CALGARY ON THE PRECIPICE Learning Our Way Forward May 2020

Research Report





AL Institute for Innovation and Entrepreneurship





Institute for Community Prosperity

CONTRIBUTORS

INTERDISCIPLINARY PROJECT TEAM

A study of this complexity requires an interdisciplinary team of connected and committed scholars. We would like to thank these people for their investment and continued support as we continue the conversation on Calgary becoming a LearningCITY¹:

Researcher	Related Expertise	Affiliation
Dr. David Finch (Lead)	Experiential learning	Mount Royal University
Dr. Nadège Levallet	Strategy	University of Guelph
Dr. Evelyn Field	Psychology	Mount Royal University
Dr. Simon Raby	Innovation and Growth	Mount Royal University
Dr. Chad Saunders	Entrepreneurship support policy	University of Calgary
Dr. Michael Roberts	International Business	Mount Royal University
Dr. Faith-Michael Uzoka	Computer Information Systems	Mount Royal University
Dr. Sharon McIntyre	Innovation and Technology	Mount Royal University
Jason Ribeiro (PhD candidate)	Educational leadership	Calgary Economic Development
Scott Cressman	Design	Alberta University of the Arts

INTERDISCIPLINARY REVIEW TEAM

We would like to recognize and thank the reviewers who provided valued feedback during the development of this study:

Alexandria Campbell Ray DePaul Craig Desjardins Jeannie Finch Dr. Sandip Lalli Dr. Jyoti Gondek Janet Lane Mary Moran Dr. Jodi Nickel Irfhan Rawji Janet Segato James Stauch

Laurie Stretch Terry Sydoryk Dr. Trevor Tombe Dr. Norm Vaughan Cynthia Watson

¹ This report is the first outcome of the LearningCITY Project. This project is exploring how a city-wide learning system could be re-envisioned to deliver on the priorities defined in Calgary's economic strategy.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
INTRODUCTION	7
Setting the Stage	7
Uncertainty and the Future of Our City	8
CONCEPTUAL DEVELOPMENT	10
Learning Cities and Human Capital	10
Adaptive Individuals	12
Adaptive Institutions	16
Transforming into a City that Learns	18
Mechanism 1: Knowledge Diffusion	19
Mechanism 2: Boundary Spanners	21
Mechanism 3: Shared Vision	22
RESEARCH STUDIES	24
Phase 1: Stakeholder Workshop	24
Sample	24
Method	24
Results	25
Phase 2: Enabling Competency Demand Analysis	27
Methods	27
Results	29
Summary of Results	30
CONCLUSIONS	33
Transforming Calgary into LearningCITY 2025: An Action Plan	34
A Path Forward. Together.	35
REFERENCES	38
APPENDICES	47



FIGURES & TABLES

FIGURES

Figure-1: A systemic view of a LearningCITY	23
Figure-2: The four-cluster model of enabling competencies	28
Figure-3. Enabling competencies coding results (Individual-level)	29
Figure-4: Enabling competencies coding results (Cluster-level)	29
Figure-5: A plan for LearningCITY 2025	33
Figure-6: A proposed LearningCITY task force model	36
Figure-7: A 12-month LearningCITY program	37

TABLES

Table-1: Developing adaptive individuals	14
Table-2: Conclusion and implications	31
Table-3: The path to LearningCITY 2025	34

APPENDICES

Appendix-1: Glossary of key terms	47
Appendix-2: Integrated dynamic capabilities development	52
Appendix-3: Phase 1 sample by talent development stakeholders	53
Appendix-4: Phase 2 competency model inventory	54
Appendix-5: Enabling competency mapping	55
Appendix-6: Enabling competency codebook	56
Appendix-7: An evidence-based LearningCITY	62

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

For 40 years, economic, social, and cultural factors such as advanced technology and globalization have changed how cities compete to attract new citizens. A city's proximity to natural resources is no longer the driver of its competitive advantage. Instead, a city's ability to attract, develop and retain talent (the people who will live and work there) is the greatest predictor of social, and economic prosperity. That means how cities grow and develop their talent pool is crucial. Today's workplaces demand that people have the capacity to live with uncertainty, adapt to new roles and learn new skills quickly. These skills transcend industries and professions. If there were such a thing as a defining competency, it would be adaptability.

Adaptable people can adjust to the dynamic context of the world today. Adaptability can be reactive, like how many are learning to live in a new reality during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, adaptability can also be proactive and intentional, characterized by anticipating change and planning our response in advance. In this study, we explore the attributes of adaptive people and how they underpin adaptive organizations, systems, and cities.

"Imagine a city of people who view disruption as opportunity. Imagine a population whose talent and skills continuously evolve."

Imagine a city of people who view disruption as opportunity. Imagine a population whose talent and skills continuously evolve. Imagine a Calgary that attracts investment and talent from across the globe because it's known as a city that learns its way forward. We don't believe the question is if this city is the Calgary of the future. Rather, our focus is on how we will realize our potential and whether the speed of change will be fast enough to navigate the precipice we're standing on.

At the root of adaptation is learning. So to become a city that adapts, Calgary must become a city that can learn faster and better than others. How do we transform Calgary into a "LearningCITY"? We have to start by changing the learning system.

We argue that how we choose to learn will define Calgary's future social and economic prosperity. Yet the ability for today's learning system to transform to meet emergina demands remains widelv debated, because education is one of the most change-resistant institutions in society. Education is also threaded through society, not just in kindergarten to grade 12 and accredited educational institutes, but it's also in employers, professional associations, business ecosystems and in the hands of individual learners. The ways people learn, in short, are incredibly complex. That means there's enormous potential to effect wider change by evolving our learning system.

How can Calgary's learning system be optimized to drive social and economic prosperity in the face of accelerating uncertainty? To answer this question we conducted a multi-disciplinary study into the nature of adaptability and the learning system. This first report reviews the results of this two-phased study. Based on the outcome, we propose establishing a LearningCITY Task Force guided by the following five pillars:

1. Transition to an open learning system: To become a LearningCITY,

Calgary must transition from the traditional closed learning system, which is defined by isolated learning experiences like the path from kindergarten to postsecondary to professional development, into an open, lifelong personalized learning system where people are empowered by and accountable for their own continuous development.

- 2. Transition to purpose-based **learning:** A LearningCITY needs a learning system that prioritizes empowerment and autonomy for the learner. The learner's development pathway - their route through the learning system _ becomes а personalized climbing wall instead of a predictable ladder. At its core, this open learning system aims to support the development of adaptable people, so the system itself must be adaptable.
- 3. Commit to universal experiential learning: An empowered learner learns through a variety of mediums and experiences. Today, many of these learning experiences aren't hands-on. Therefore, as part of an open learning system, we recommend that Calgary becomes the first city in North America to adopt a universal experiential incorporating learning system а minimum of 450 experiential learning hours for undergraduates prior to graduation.
- 4. Develop enabling competencies: An individual who has a strong foundation of enabling competencies (skills that are useful no matter the context, like communication or citizenship) will be more adaptive than someone whose learning is anchored in domain-specific competencies (skills that serve them in a particular role or context, like welding or cooking). We propose Calgary adopt a unified community competency model

that promotes development of skillsets that contribute to a person's ability to adapt. This approach will transcend industries, roles, and professions, creating a unique competitive advantage for our city.

5. **Invest in city-level structural capital:** An efficient, city-wide open learning system requires high-level coordination between many stakeholders. For this to happen, all partners in the learning system will need to ensure processes to advance collaboration and shared learning.



For additional details on these pillars, refer to the report, *Calgary on the Precipice: The Path to LearningCITY 2025* available HERE.



INTRODUCTION

SETTING THE STAGE

Necessity is the mother of taking chances.

— Mark Twain

In June 2018, Calgary City Council unanimously approved a new economic strategy for the city, facilitated by Calgary Economic Development. Titled Calgary in the New Economy (2018), this strategy called for a strategic diversification of the economy. The call for Calgary to diversify and adapt is not new; it has been debated for almost a half-century, with little evidence of fundamental change (e.g., Morgan, 2019). In its past attempts at diversity, the Government of Alberta took equity positions in financial institutions, meat packers and technology companies. Indeed, Calgary was briefly a global leader in wireless technology in the 1980s. The questions about why we should adapt, or what we should become have been debated endlessly. However, the more fundamental question remains - how does Calgary adapt?

Calgary in the New Economy confronts the *how* question head on and finds a clear answer: Calgary only adapts when its population adapts. A central pillar of the economic development strategy in the report focuses on education, and more

specifically on the evolution of the learning system required to prepare Calgarians for the new dynamic economy. This new economy requires Calgarians (the city's "talent") to adapt quickly to emerging opportunities and challenges. In а constantly evolving labour market, learning must be continuous, because the skills organizations need from their talent are not fixed. To further develop the concept of a new learning system, a broad range of community partners, facilitated by Calgary Economic Development, established the *LearningCITY Project* with a mandate to explore how a city-wide learning system could be re-envisioned to deliver on the priorities defined in Calgary's economic strategy. This discussion paper is the first output of the LearningCITY Project.

Then COVID-19 changed everything.

"Calgary's economy requires talent to adapt quickly to emerging opportunities and challenges. In a constantly evolving labour market, learning must be continuous."

In Calgary, the economic and social impact of the pandemic is amplified by the simultaneous collapse of global oil prices. Mary Moran and Sandip Lalli, the Presidents of Calgary Economic Development and the Calgary Chamber of Commerce respectively, argue that going back to the way things were pre-pandemic is no longer an option. As they state: "longterm recovery and a future with opportunities for our children will depend on the creativity, grit and determination of entrepreneurial Calgarians and the innovative thinkers in our economy" (Moran & Lalli, 2020).

"Long-term recovery and a future with opportunities for our children will depend on the creativity, grit and determination of entrepreneurial Calgarians and the innovative thinkers in our economy."

The pandemic has magnified some fundamental weaknesses of our current system. These learning include а dependency on traditional in-classroom learning models, the digital divide highlighted by exploding demand for student and educator access to computers and internet bandwidth, the lack of digital curriculum-sharing across institutions, educator inexperience with the complexity of online learning, employee comfort with digital tools, and so forth.

Moran and Lalli contend that there is only one path forward – and it is together. As they state, the city's new reality "...will require a new level of alignment, leadership, and trust from all orders of government, businesses, educators and social-welfare organizations to resolve the simultaneous challenges. It is the way we will forge our path forward" (Moran & Lalli, 2020). Thus, this report asserts that reinventing Calgary must begin by reinventing how we learn. Only when every Calgarian possesses a capacity to not only continuously learn and adapt, but to embrace our new reality, will our city and every citizen step back from the precipice and chart a new path to the future.

UNCERTAINTY AND THE FUTURE OF OUR CITY

"The ability to learn faster than your competitors may be the only sustainable competitive advantage."

- Peter Senge (1990)

For most of human history, a city's competitive advantage was defined by its proximity to scarce natural resources ranging from lumber and iron ore to access navigable waterways (Glaeser & to Gottlieb, 2006). For the past two hundred these natural advantages vears, contributed to the growth of global cities commodity extraction through or manufacturing centres. Over the past four decades, the competitive advantage of many cities - driven by economic, social and cultural factors, such as advanced technology and globalization _ has transitioned from proximity to natural resources, to their ability to attract and mobilize human capital (Diamandis & Kotler, 2012; Luksha et al., 2018).² Today, a city's capacity to develop, acquire and retain high-valued talent underpins much of its economic and social prosperity (World Economic Forum, 2020).

Accelerating social and economic disruption, and the resulting uncertainty, has redefined the nature of high-valued talent (Conference Board, 2019; Finch & Levallet, 2020). Research demonstrates

² Herein, we used human capital as a synonym to high-valued talent and defines competencies as capital, similar to other forms of capital (e.g.,

financial capital, social capital). Human capital can be viewed at the level of an individual, institution (e.g., organization or ecosystem) or city.

that the adaptive capacity of individuals has emerged as a critical competency for employers (Conference Board, 2019). The World Economic Forum (2018) forecasts that by 2022, 75 million jobs will be displaced across the leading 20 economies, while 133 million new jobs will be created in nascent sectors. It is estimated that 50 per cent of employees globally will need to be reskilled or upskilled between 2018 and 2022 (World Economic Forum, 2018). Not surprisingly, 91 per cent of human resource decision-makers view an employee's ability to adapt as a critical competency (Right Management, N.D.).

"The ability for today's learning system to transform to meet emerging demands remains widely debated, as education remains one of the most change resistant institutions of society."

As a city, Calgary is arguably at the forefront of this disruption (Ribeiro & Khatoon, 2019). The oil and gas sector, representing more than a guarter (27.9 per cent) of Alberta's gross domestic product (Government of Alberta, 2017) is experiencing significant structural Moreover, 2015-16 disruption. the recession led to a 7.4 per cent drop in the Alberta provincial gross domestic product and the largest number of job losses since the early 1980s (Parkinson, 2018). Not surprisingly, Economic Calgary Development (2019b) has called for a strategic diversification of the economy. One implication of this disruption is the prospect that up to half of the jobs performed by Calgarians today could be at risk of automation over the next 20 years (Calgary Economic Development, 2019b). As early evidence of this diversification, Cutean and McLaughlin (2019) report that

with the expansion of fields such as artificial intelligence and data science, total employment in key digital roles is forecasted to surpass 77,000 in Alberta by 2023, doubling the employment growth rate of all other sectors.

Yet, Calgary's deep roots in the oil and gas sector means that only about 25 per cent Calgary's technical expertise of is comprised of software engineers and data scientists - compared with 50 to 62 per cent in Ottawa, Vancouver, Montreal, and Toronto (Pike, 2019). Further, in a recent survey of global oil and gas CEOs, 68 per cent of the leaders were concerned about talent availabilitv to support their company's digital transformation strategies (PwC, 2019). In fact, 88 per cent of the Canadian CEOs held this concern. While Canadian oil and gas CEOs thought that educational institutions could best close this talent gap, global CEOs were not willing to wait for government and education to deliver new talent, instead seeing "significant retraining and internal upskilling as the priorities" in their organizations (PwC, 2019).

Over thirty years ago, Peter Senge argued that an organization's "ability to learn faster than your competitors may be the only sustainable competitive advantage" (De Geus, 1988, p. 71). We contend that how we choose to learn will define Calgary's future social and economic prosperity. Yet, the ability for today's learning system to transform to meet emerging demands remains widely debated, as education remains one of the most change resistant institutions of society (Luksha et al., 2018; Stanford, 2019). One challenge is the structural barriers to system-wide agility created by the fragmented nature of the current learning system. Moreover, there remains a contentious debate of the comparative value of foundational vs. vocational knowledge and their competencies (Urban & Johal, 2020). Recognizing this, groups such as the Business/Higher Education Roundtable (Sado, Cannon & Jenkins 2017, p. 1) argue that Canada "needs a fresh approach to meeting the challenges that exist at the intersection of business, education and employment." ³ In response, herein, we leverage rich multidisciplinary literature, and the results of two studies, to explore the following question:

"How can Calgary's learning system be optimized to drive social and economic prosperity in the face of accelerating uncertainty?"

This report is structured as follows: First, we explore this research question through a multidisciplinary literature review. We next explore the mechanisms to aggregate adaptive capacity at the city-level. The output of this literature review is an integrated model of a LearningCITY and associated propositions. These propositions are explored in two qualitative studies. The first reports on the results of a large stakeholder workshop including employers, educators, administrators, and policymakers. The second analyzes a sample of competency models to examine the alternate approaches to competency development. In the final section, we consider the results of these two studies and present a series of comprehensive recommendations to stimulate dialogue

³ Today, 68 per cent of Canadians between the ages of 25 and 64 completed postsecondary education; Canada is the most educated country in the world, 24 per cent above the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development average (OECD, n.d.). Yet, Canada scores relatively poorly on the and debate about the future of Calgary's learning ecosystem.

CONCEPTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The measure of intelligence is the ability to change.

– Albert Einstein

LEARNING CITIES AND HUMAN CAPITAL

As far back as 1987, the U.S. Army War College introduced four dimensions to define emerging challenges facing military decision-making in a multilateral world. The four dimensions were volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity (U.S. Army Heritage and Education Center, n.d.).⁴ Together, these four dimensions reflect an exponential amplification of decision-making complexity and risk (Millar, Groth & Mahon, 2018). At the heart of this is an exponential increase in the number of variables influencing a decision and a similar level of potential outcomes resulting from any decision.

The volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity facing cities has been the topic of multidisciplinary research for many years (e.g., Boschma, 2015; Florida, 2010; Jacobs, 1961). In the Calgary context, the volatility and uncertainty of the oil and gas sector has sustained an almost 50-year debate as to *why* Calgary should diversify (e.g., Morgan, 2019). Moreover, predicting *what* Calgary should diversify into (e.g., artificial intelligence, robotics, or

OECD scales in areas related to adult literacy,

numeracy, and problem-solving skills (OECD, n.d.). ⁴ Volatility, uncertainty, complexity and ambiguity is commonly referred to as VUCA.

renewables) is merely a prediction, somewhat flawed in today's rapidly changing and uncertain world. Rather, we hypothesize a more fundamental question: *how* does Calgary develop the capacity to adapt? This question focuses on the *process* of change, and our collective ability to adapt to compete in the new economy.

Decades of research demonstrate that high levels of human capital are the anchor of a city's capacity to adapt (Glaeser, 2003; 2010; Mathur, 1999; Welch, 1970). For example, Glaeser and Saiz (2003) use 30 years of data to explore how human capital impacts a city's adaptive capacity when faced with a declining industrial base. These scholars reveal that human capital contributes to increasing economic resiliency. Other studies provide evidence that a geographic concentration of human capital accelerates the adoption of new knowledge through efficient information spillover, shared diffusion, learning, experimentation, and increased social embeddedness (Bathelt, Malmberg & Maskell, 2004; Florida, Mellander & Stolarick, 2008).

"Decades of research demonstrate that high levels of human capital are the anchor of a city's capacity to adapt."

researchers examined the Moreover, underlying nature of a LearningCITY through a variety of perspectives. For example, scholars in community development (Florida, 2010; Glaeser, 2003), planning (Innes & Booher, 1999), economics (Boschma, 2015), management (Senge, 1990) and education (Fullan & Loubser, 1972) study themes associated with adaptive capacity at a system level



economic (e.g., systems, education systems, community systems).⁵ In contrast, Teece, Pisano and Shuen (1997) explore dynamic capabilities at the level of the organization. Finally, scholars in psychology (Kidd & Davidson, 2007; Savickas, 1997), entrepreneurship (McGrath & MacMillan, 2000), and education (Kolb & Kolb, 2005) study the factors that contribute to the adaptive capacity of the individual, being at the foundation of both the organizations and the system in which they reside. While adaptive capacity is studied extensively, limited research synthesizes this work into a broader conceptual model of how a city can develop a systematic adaptive capacity.

The behavioral theory of the firm contends that organizational activities can be explained through reductionism, that is, the explanatory power of individuals (e.g., employees, decision-makers) (Barney & Felin, 2013). This is echoed by community development researchers who mapped a "spiraling-up" influence of individuals and institutions (e.g., organizations, ecosystems) on regional systems (Emery & Flora, 2006).⁶ Thus, *adaptive capacity* is the ability for an individual or institution to anticipate systematic changes and proactively reconfigure existing resources, or acquire new resources, to maintain a competitive advantage (Rudolph, Lavigne

& Zacher, 2017; Staber & Sydow, 2002). Whereas resiliency presumes dominance of external environment over the the individual or institution, adaptive capacity posits that the individual or institution maintains agency.⁷ Our initial frame is geographic agglomeration, meaning we view a LearningCITY as the aggregation of adaptive individuals and adaptive institutions. In the following section, we consider three levels of adaptive capacity: adaptive individuals, adaptive institutions (organizations and ecosystems) and learning cities.8

"Adaptive capacity is the ability for an individual or institution to anticipate systematic changes and proactively reconfigure existing resources, or acquire new resources, to maintain a competitive advantage."

ADAPTIVE INDIVIDUALS

A city's adaptive capacity is anchored in the ability for its labour force to meet increasingly dynamic demands for new competencies (Glaeser & Saiz, 2003). Moreover, increasing labour uncertainty forces individuals to rigorously maintain currency within their field or pivot to new

⁵ Complex adaptive systems theory emerged as a multidisciplinary field of study exploring the adaptive nature of systems across a range of disciplinary contexts including computer science, ecology, and social sciences. For additional reading on complex adaptive systems, refer to Miller and Page (2009).
⁶ The definition of "institution" in institutional theory is highly debated. Scott (1995) defines it as a relatively stable social structure with normative and regulative dimensions. In the context of this study, we narrow this definition to encompass organizations and ecosystems. We also acknowledge that institutions are sometimes understood as government institutions.

⁷ Resiliency is a highly debated construct across multiple disciplines. For additional information, refer to Martin (2012).

⁸ We adopt the term *LearningCITY* to describe the aggregation of adaptive individuals and adaptive institutions at the level of a city. In recent years in community planning literature, *adaptive capacity* is periodically used to describe a city's preparation for, or resiliency from, natural disasters (e.g., Hess, McDowell, & Luber, 2012). This context is outside of the scope of this study.



fields (Bimrose & Barnes, 2011). Adaptive individuals manifest themselves through career adaptability, facilitated by the ability of individuals to successfully combine personal competencies with career uncertainty.

The construct of career adaptability is foundational to career construction theory (Savickas, 1997) in that individuals can successfully accept and proactively navigate professional uncertainty & 2012). (Savickas Porfeli, Career adaptability incorporates for inter-related dimensions, concern, control, curiosity, and confidence (Hirschi, Herrmann, & Keller. 2015). In building this capacity, individuals can anticipate and proactively assume responsibility for the development of their competencies (Savickas & Porfeli, 2012). Career adaptability includes embracing uncertainty, continuous reinvention (Rudolph, learning, and Lavigne & Zacher, 2017). This ability to adapt professionally is a core competency of a dynamic 21st century labour force (Conference Board, 2019).

The construct of adaptive individuals is anchored in integrated dynamic capabilities (Finch & Levallet, 2020). Borrowing from the employability literature and the dynamic capabilities perspective in strategic management research, Finch and Levallet (2020) suggest an individual's integrated dynamic capability is anchored in their capacity to acquire, reconfigure, or release three resource clusters: input resources, development resources and competency resources. Individuals must not only possess the raw input resources (such as personality and cognition), but also development resources (education and experience) and evidence of outputs (competencies). As a result, resources cannot be considered in isolation as they are interdependent and complementary components that enable an individual to develop an adaptive capacity.

The development and refinement of resources is an iterative and nonlinear process, incorporating feedback loops between each of the resource clusters (Finch & Levallet, 2020). Building on the work of Finch and Levallet, Table-1 explores the relationship between input, development and competency resources and adaptive individuals. Refer to Appendix -2 for the associated model.

Table-1: Developing adaptive individuals (extended from Finch & Levallet, 2020)

Resource	Scope	Role in Adaptive Talent		
	Input Resources			
Personality	 Incorporates intrinsic personality including emotional stability, openness to experience, extraversion, agreeableness, and conscientiousness. Perceived as relatively stable but has the potential to be refined and developed (McCrae & Costa, 1997; Mount, Barrick, Scullen, & Rounds, 2005). 	 Two personality attributes frame an individual's adaptive capacity: Conscientiousness, including dimensions such as dependability, organization, and being goal-driven relates to employability (Schmidt & Hunter, 1998). Openness to experience includes dimensions such as intellectual curiosity, imagination, creativity, and independence; as well as the capacity to embraces new ideas, creativity, intellectual curiosity, and problem solving (Mussel, Winter, Gelleri & Schuler. 2011). Also recognizes that a proactive personality and extraversion contribute to adaptive capacity (Fuller, 2009). 		
Cognition and Meta-Cognition	 Cognitive resources incorporate critical thinking competencies, decision making, problem solving, reasoning, ability to learn from previous situations and the competency to self-evaluate one's cognitive abilities to do any of the previously listed cognitive tasks. Includes meta-cognitive self-reflection (thinking about, and critically evaluating, one's own thought processes – strengths and weaknesses) and personal meta-cognition knowledge. 	 Cognition and meta-cognition provide a foundational anchor that frames an individual's adaptive capacity. Is strongly linked to employability across a variety of occupations and contexts (Stiwne & Jungert, 2010). These relate to career confidence and are critical for a sense of control over one's career (Coetzee & Harry, 2014). Contributes to self-reflection and an entrepreneurial, or proactive, mindset (Haynie & Shepherd, 2009) which may predispose certain individuals to be more adaptive to uncertainty. 		

	Development Resource	ces
Education	• Education encompasses both accredited and non-accredited training that contribute to the development of cognitive and personality resources. This incorporates all delivery forms from formal education to vocational training to self-directed learning (e.g., reading).	 Education provides foundation to develop enabling competencies that anchor an individual's adaptive capacity (Fink, 2013; Kolb & Kolb, 2005).
Experience	 Experiences are professional (e.g., paid), volunteer (e.g., not compensated work) and contextual (e.g., personal experiences, such as travel) (Dacre Pool and Sewell, 2007). 	 Experience provides capacity to learn and adapt through reflection and experimentation (Kolb & Kolb, 2005). Experience activities are more closely related to developing domain-specific competencies (Bills, 2003). Experience can have both positive and negative impacts on adaptive capacity. Experience in a risk-averse culture may condition an individual to act in a manner that mitigates future risk (Öhman & Mineka, 2001).
	Competency Resource	es
Enabling Competencies (ECs)	 ECs (also referred to as meta-skills, human-skills, soft-skills and transferable- skills) ability to incorporate the knowledge, skills, attitudes, values, and behaviors required to deliver analytical thinking, interpersonal, foundational literacies; and professional enabling competencies (Conference Board, 2019; Finch, Nadeau & O'Reilly, 2013). 	 ECs are not contextual and therefore more stable and perceived to transcend labour market uncertainty. Specific ECs are linked to supporting an individual's adaptive capacity. These include contextual agility (Pignault & Houssemand, 2016), creativity (Kilgour & Koslow, 2009), curiosity (Bower & Konwerski, 2017), emotional intelligence (Coetzee & Harry, 2014), growth mindset (Burnette et al., 2019), perseverance (Reed & Jeremiah, 2017), confidence (Koen et al., 2010), professional identity (Ibarra, 2013), reflection (Kolb & Kolb, 2005), and vision (Senge, 1990).
Domain-Specific Competencies (DSCs)	 DSCs incorporate the knowledge, skills, attitudes, values, and behaviors required to complete specific tasks associated with a role (e.g., accounting, welding) and/or a sector (e.g., energy, sport). 	 DSCs are highly contextual and possess a shorter lifespan than ECs (Gawad, Allen, & Fowler 2019; Zhang, Ryan, Prybutok, & Kappelman, 2012). In general, their contextual nature limits their adaptive value. For example, accounting DSCs provide potential to adapt within accounting but offer limited value to pivot into a new role outside of accounting.



In sum, we contend that developing adaptive individuals is anchored in the systematic development of enabling competencies, by leveraging input, development, and competency resources. Based on this, we define the following proposition:

Proposition 1 (P1): Enabling competencies are the foundation of an individual's adaptive capacity.

ADAPTIVE INSTITUTIONS

Herein, we define adaptive institutions as the adaptive capacity embedded in organizations or ecosystems. Adaptive organizations incorporate the ability for an organization to anticipate change and reconfigure existing resources or acquire new resources to maintain a sustainable competitive advantage (Staber & Sydow, 2002). Organizations evolve in response to internal and environmental discontinuities (Tushman Romanelli, & 1985). Organizations their and executive leadership have a degree of choice as to the strategy they adopt for a given scenario. In the context of volatile and 'hostile' conditions (e.g., COVID-19), organizations that adopt organic (i.e., adaptive, flexible) structures, along with entrepreneurial and visionary orientations tend to perform better (e.g., Colvin & Slevin, 1989). In addition, adaptive capacity is rooted in the systematic processes used by the organization to identify direct and indirect signals of risk and opportunity (Day & Schoemaker, 2019).

Culturally, adaptive organizations are dynamic and embody a culture of experimentation and a state of continuous learning and reinvention (Chakravarthy, 1982; Senge, 1990; Staber, & Sydow, 2002). Two streams of organizational literature exemplify this: organizational learning, and dynamic capabilities. The learning research field organizational suggests that for any organization to possess а sustainable competitive advantage it must first and foremost be designed as a learning organization (Senge, 1990).

Learning organizations are rooted in five disciplines (Senge, 1990): (1) personal mastery, (2) mental models, (3) a shared vision, (4) team learning, and (5) systems thinking that integrates the other four disciplines. A learning organization is "skilled at creating, acquiring and transferring knowledge, and at modifying its behaviour to reflect new knowledge and insights" (Garvin, 1993, p. 7). Therefore, a learning organization not only acquires new knowledge, but also has the capacity to modify its behaviour based on this new knowledge, and develops an absorptive capacity, or the "ability of a firm to recognize the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends" (Cohen & Levinthal, 1990, p. 128).

"Adaptive organizations are dynamic and embody a culture of experimentation and a state of continuous learning and reinvention."

Similarly, the dynamic capabilities perspective suggests that to succeed durina times of uncertainty, an organization should develop dynamic "to capabilities integrate, build, and reconfigure internal and external competencies to address rapidly changing environments" (Teece et al., 1997, p. 517). To develop such capabilities, organizations leverage organizational processes, notably learning mechanisms (Zollo & Winter, 2002).

Aligned with the individual competencies discussed in the previous section, organizations become able to (1) sense and shape opportunities and threats (e.g., input resources such as creativity and curiosity), (2) seize these opportunities (e.g., competency resources), and (3) enhance competitiveness through reconfiguring resources (e.g., analytical competencies; Teece, 2007). For example, adaptive organizations sense market dynamics and use revenues from an existing profitable, but declining business,

to fund expansion into new business lines (Gilbert, 2017). For example, Netflix transitioning from a mail order DVD business to the leader in entertainment streaming and content reflects the organization's ability to evolve its dynamic capabilities in the face of environmental changes (Pisano, 2015).

contrast with In organizations, an ecosystem is a form of inter-organizational collaboration facilitating accelerated learning and innovation (Williamson & De Meyer, 2012). In a business context, an ecosystem reflects a formal or informal network of stakeholders (e.g., producers, distributors, consumers, suppliers, competitors) that collaborate to create, scale and serve markets beyond the capacity of a single organization or a traditional sector (Deloitte, 2015). Ecosystems blur industry boundaries and can eventually replace them (Atluri et al., 2017). In general, business ecosystems are developed because the problems to be addressed are too complex for any one organization to tackle alone, necessitating the collaboration of multiple partners.

Complementary knowledge assets become important in business ecosystems (Alstyne, Parker & Choudary, 2016). Enabled by increased connections across specialized leverage areas, ecosystems shared knowledge to develop new, co-created solutions and business models. Ecosystem structures may take different forms. For example, they may be controlled by a single entity (e.g., Apple App Store), or they may be collaborative (e.g., open source software development ecosystems, research collaborations) multi-party (Jacobides, Cennamo & Gawer, 2018). This type of open, collaborative ecosystem may transcend the profit, non-profit, and public sectors. For example, ecosystems often exist to support entrepreneurs through networking, professional development, mentoring and financing.

However, what owned or open ecosystems have in common is the goal of maximizing the ecosystem value (as opposed to value exclusively to individual accruing members) (Alstyne et al., 2016), regardless of how "value" is defined. As a result, ecosystems evolve and adapt as their resource needs or goals evolve and adapt over time (Williamson & De Meyer, 2012). For this reason, clear governance mechanisms are essential to ensure that as ecosystems evolve, the value continues to accrue to the shared goals of the ecosystem (Williamson & Meyer, 2012). Based on this, we define the following proposition:

Proposition 2 (P2): Adaptive individuals are the foundation of adaptive organizations and ecosystems.

TRANSFORMING INTO A CITY THAT LEARNS

A LearningCITY demands the systematic aggregation of the adaptive capacity embedded in individuals and institutions (organizations or ecosystems). Therefore, it is essential to explore the mechanisms that enable adaptive individuals and institutions to aggregate to become a LearningCITY. Aggregation mechanisms are studied extensively by multidisciplinary scholars (Coleman, 1988; De Pablos, 2004; Ghoshal, 1998). Nahapiet & These aggregation mechanisms are processes through which activities and behaviours of lower level actors (e.g., individuals, institutions) combine at higher level outcomes (Barney & Felin, 2013; Foss, mechanisms are 2011). Aggregation

complex and incorporate the culture, structures, processes and routines (e.g., social capital, relational capital, cognitive capital, structural capital) that enable the value of the individual or institutions to be maximized for the benefit of the aggregated entity (e.g., a city) (Boisot, 2002).

For example, the construct of social capital emerged from its sociological foundation to explore the creation of network and community-based value as an aggregation of individuals (Coleman, 1988; Lin, 2017; Putnam, 2001). Social capital is a byproduct of human relations, producing incremental value to both the individual and the collective (Coleman, 1988). A distinct dimension of social capital is that it does not consider self-interest and social interest as mutually exclusive. Rather, the pursuit of self-interest is a significant driver for the pursuit of social relations, and, in turn, the institutions formed to support these relations (Hutchinson & Vidal, 2004; Shaw & Martin, 2000). Yet, the benefits of social capital are measured in the context of collective value (Coleman, 1988).

Social capital is usually considered as a multidimensional construct, with relational, cognitive, and structural capital constituting its key facets (Nahapiet & 1998). Relational Ghoshal, capital examines the relational bonds that link individuals (that accrue to become collective value), cognitive capital on the resources shared interpretation, for structural capital meaning, and to resources for patterns of connection among actors (e.g., individuals, organizations) (Nahapiet & Ghoshal, 1998).

In this study, we focus on structural capital as it incorporates the tangible and intangible processes and structures that facilitate the bonding of both individuals and institutions. At an institutional level, structural capital is most commonly defined as the value of an organization when the employees have gone home (De Pablos, 2004). Therefore, it includes the processes and structures that enable the effective leveraging of other forms of capital, such as human capital or physical capital that generates incremental value. Structural capital may include dimensions such as intellectual property, culture, and knowledge management systems, and processes (Aminu & Mahmood, 2015). Limited research is available regarding structural capital at a city level. Callaghan and Colton (2008) defines public structural capital as including both tangible and intangible assets from roads and libraries to social services and education. Herein, we define structural capital as the tangible and intangible processes and infrastructure that facilitate the effective collaboration alignment of individuals and and institutions within a city.

"Structural capital...includes the processes and structures that enable the effective leveraging of other forms of capital, such as human capital or physical capital that generates incremental value."

Therefore, our focus is on the aggregation mechanisms that enable the adaptive capacity of individuals and institutions to scale to a city level. Below, we explore three mechanisms critical to scaling adaptive individuals and adaptive institutions to become learning cities.

MECHANISM 1: KNOWLEDGE DIFFUSION

Knowledge is both tacit and explicit (Nonaka, 1991). Tacit knowledge refers to experiential knowledge that cannot be easily transferred while explicit knowledge can be coded (Alavi & Leidner, 2001). Knowledge incorporates information, competencies and beliefs that enable individuals to extract meaning from an



observation (von Krogh, Roos, & Slocum 1994). Scholars suggest knowledge is embedded in a context and experience (Bourdieu, 1977; Levina & Vaast, 2006). A proactive view of knowledge contends the institutions define new problems and generate new knowledge to solve them (Nonaka, 1994). Thus, learning occurs when knowledge is shared and converted into new practice.

An example of a knowledge diffusion mechanism that has emerged in the last two decades is open innovation (Chesbrough, 2006). Traditional innovation processes focus on controlling the innovation process, i.e., the exploration of new knowledge and exploitation of existing knowledge in a closed loop (e.g., limited to employees within an organization), which allowed a company to retain ownership of and control over knowledge and intellectual However, traditional property (IP). innovation has limited access to knowledge from external sources and therefore an organization is challenged to effectively tackle the most complex problems (Chesbrough, 2006).

In contrast, open innovation encourages the development of partnerships and the leveraging of complementary knowledge for innovation from individuals and organizations across ecosystems (Van Der Duin et al., 2007). This is to say, organizations seldom innovate in isolation, but rather invest in the structural capital required to open their innovation processes to others, becoming empowered to collaborate and co-create (Chesbrough 2006; 2011).

In this cyclical interaction model, an organization transitions from being a linear controller of knowledge to becoming a dynamic broker of knowledge across an ecosystem, supporting interconnected processes. For example, organizations invest to develop the structural capital to enable system partners to develop and distribute products and services, and facilitate interaction with users, commercial organizations, and their customers. These platforms encourage both competition and collaboration within the ecosystem. The benefits of open innovation include increased value creation, access to external resources and capabilities (Grimpe & Hussinger, 2014), speed, agility, reduced cost and the ability to exponentially increase and diversify the engaged the people in design, development and delivery of new products and services, which tend to outweigh the downside associated with open platforms (e.g., IP ownership, new competitive threats).

The adoption of open innovation by cities is essential to facilitate the aggregation of knowledge and experience from adaptive individuals and institutions on the city level. We contend that enhanced knowledge diffusion across learning system partners, including accredited institutions (kindergarten to postsecondary), other educational providers, employers, professional associations, and government, are instrumental to developing а LearningCITY.

> "The adoption of open innovation by cities is essential to facilitate the aggregation of knowledge and experience from adaptive individuals and institutions on the city level."

An example of a specific mechanism to facilitate learning system knowledge diffusion is experiential learning (EL). Educational theorists view learning as a holistic process that incorporates all lived experiences (Dewey, 1923; Fink, 2013; Kolb & Kolb, 2005). A central element to experiential learning is not simply the experience, but rather the process of reflecting about the experience and how to make meaning from it (Kolb & Kolb, 2005). As a holistic pedagogy, Kolb (1984) asserts that transformational learning is an intersection of concrete experience and abstract conceptualization. Thus, reflection is critical to transform experience into deeper learning through conscious evaluation of an experience (Kolb, 2005).

Scholars (Schwartz, Bransford & Sears, 2005; Von Esch & Kavanagh, 2017) explore the construct of adaptive expertise in contrast to routine expertise. Adaptive expertise is the capacity for an individual to adjust to new problems or contexts. This expertise requires the intersection of new subject matter content with practice-based learning design to yield the integrated knowledge of an adaptive expert who can be simultaneously innovative and efficient.

Experiential learning bridges conceptual learning with experiences in the form of internships, apprenticeships, live case studies, field schools entrepreneurship, and community-engaged research (CEWL Canada, 2019). EL enhances student engagement (CEWL Canada, 2019), increasing situational cognition (Coll et al., 2011) and the rate of employment pre- and (Billett, post-graduation 2011). This combination of knowledge acquisition and applied learning experience yields the expertise required for new economy careers.

MECHANISM 2: BOUNDARY SPANNERS

The next aggregation mechanism we consider is *boundary spanners*. Scholars (Boxenbaum & Battilana, 2005; Brannen & Thomas, 2010; DeFillippi & Ornstein, 2003) identify that while cognitive-cultural understandings shape beliefs and logics, some individuals (and organizations through them) possess the capacity to push beyond their current boundaries (Brannen & Thomas, 2010). A boundary is a demarcation at the edge of a sphere of

collective human activity (Hsiao, Tsai, & Lee, 2012). However, these boundaries are bridged by cognitive, relational, attitudinal, and behavioral differences (Barner-Rasmussen, Ehrnrooth, Koveshnikov, & Mäkelä, 2014). Deemed boundary spanners, these individuals and organizations can facilitate the aggregation of a city's adaptive capacity by finding linkages so that new and novel external knowledge is translated and diffused (Carlile, 2004) and then recognized and valued (Schotter, Mudambi, Doz, & Gaur, 2017). An example of a boundary spanner is the notion of a 'dealmaker'. These individuals are investors with valuable social capital within regional economies that mediate relationships, making connections and facilitating firm formation and growth (Feldman & Zoller 2012).

boundary spanning plays Thus. an essential role in sharing knowledge within a system because when knowledge is novel, individuals or institutions may lack the capabilities to recognize and value that new knowledge. Boundary spanners can be viewed as contributing to institutional (organization or ecosystem) absorptive capacity because they provide a necessary mechanism for the porous boundaries needed to connect the organization to other players in the ecosystem (Volberda, 1996). As such, the absorptive capacity literature recognizes boundary spanners as important mechanism to diffuse an knowledge across both organizations and ecosystems (Volberda et al., 2010).

"Boundary spanners are individuals and institutions that overcome barriers to link or aggregate resources, knowledge, and practices in novel ways to accelerate or expand a city's adaptive capacity."



Previous research on knowledge transfer demonstrates that tacit knowledge cannot be seen as a given commodity that can be packaged, rather it must be recreated in social practice (Tsoukas, 2009) and is thus inseparable from organizations and individuals (Björkman, Barner-Rasmussen, & Li, 2004). It is for this reason that Carlile (2004) understands boundary spanning as a transfer, translation, and transformation process. Borrowing from educational theory, Roberts and Beamish (2017) developed the idea of boundary spanning as the process of creating scaffolding around new knowledge (Kokkonen, 2014), so that it can be recognized, understood, and valued by people who are unfamiliar with the context in which it was originally created (Lecusay, Rossen, & Cole, 2008). Thus, from a city perspective, boundary spanners are individuals and institutions that overcome barriers to link or aggregate resources, knowledge, and practices in novel ways to accelerate or expand a city's adaptive capacity.

This may include economic development agencies, chambers of commerce, ecosystem facilitators or multi-sectoral purpose-driven social innovation collaboration (e.g.,10 Year Plan to End Homelessness). For example, in Nashville, there are 39 fully integrated boundary spanning organizations (e.g., Music City Music Council) who share a collaborative goal of growing the Nashville music sector (Bernard et al., 2012). Another example is StriveTogether, an American non-profit that bridges parents, educators, civic leaders, and local employers to drive enhanced community learning outcomes (StriveTogether, n.d.). Finally, *Pathways in Technology Early College High Schools* (P-TECH) was established to accelerate technical competencies by bridging educators, policymakers, and industry partners. Today, P-TECH encompasses 18 countries, 200 schools and 100,000 students (IBM, n.d.).

MECHANISM 3: SHARED VISION

The final aggregation mechanism we consider is shared vision (Pearce & Ensley, 2004). Senge (1990 p. 192) defines a shared vision as simply a picture of "what do we want to create?" A true shared vision is not a top-down endeavour. Rather, it is an aggregation of "personal visions" that is owned by a collective, such as an city. Senge organization or (1990)suggests that a critical component of this ownership is the freedom for individuals or institutions to participate. Because a shared vision is an aggregation of personal visions, it is not coercive. As a result when individuals and institutions choose to participate, this ownership creates an intrinsic motivation to deliver on a shared vision. We contend, this shared vision is a critical aggregation mechanism for a LearningCITY. This shared vision becomes the anchored purpose for adaptive individuals and adaptive institutions to prioritize the allocation of resources to deliver on the shared vision.

In the context of this study, we propose that a Unified Community Competency *Model* ("competency model") could become a mechanism to operationalize a shared vision of a LearningCITY. Competency models have proven to be effective aggregation mechanisms that align and prioritize the required competencies across individuals and institutions. Competency models were introduced at different levels including organizations (e.g., UNESCO), roles (e.g., accounting) or regions (e.g., European Union; Singapore). These models provide guidance for the classification of competencies and associated levels in specific roles (Lane & Griffith, 2017). Models support the creation of a common vocabulary (Braham & Tobin, 2020). In addition, they often include consistent classifications and measures to enable policymakers, employers, and individuals to assess the current state of human capital and guide the allocation of scarce development resources (e.g., education

and training) (Rothwell, 2002). The role of a competency model is central to second study.

Based on this we define our third proposition:

Proposition 3 (P3): A LearningCITY is founded on adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems through aggregation mechanisms, such as knowledge diffusion, boundary spanners and shared vision.

summary, propose that In we а LearningCITY is the aggregation of individuals adaptive (P1), adaptive organizations, and adaptive ecosystems (P2) into a LearningCITY (P3). Refer to Figure-1.



Figure-1: A systemic view of a LearningCITY



RESEARCH STUDIES

To explore the three propositions, we conduct a sequential multi-methods study using gualitative methods (Creswell, 2009). The first phase of this study engaged 110 community stakeholders in a three-hour learning system stakeholder workshop. The second phase of this study built on the findings from the literature review and workshop to develop and explore the role of enabling competences in professional existina and industry competency models.

PHASE 1: STAKEHOLDER WORKSHOP

PHASE 1: SAMPLE

The workshop used purposeful sampling to ensure a mix of talent development educators stakeholders: (1)(from accredited institutions); (2) educators (from non-accredited institutions); (3) employers; and (4) other stakeholders (including policymakers, funders, and professional associations). In addition to sample by system stratifying the stakeholder role, the sample was also stratified by secondary variables to ensure diversity. For example, employers were stratified by industry sector, company size and the individual participant's role. Appendix-3 provides a definition of each stakeholder group, their stratification variables, and the percentage of participants from each group.

PHASE 1: METHODS

For the stakeholder workshop, we developed a semi-structured agenda to guide the three-hour session. This format was chosen to provide enough structure to explore the propositions, while maximizing objectivity and ensuring spontaneous reflection on the issues. To ensure the agenda was not leading, it was not explicitly linked to the defined propositions, rather, it was designed to explore participants' perceptions on two broader questions:

Key Questions for Participants

- 1. What are the factors influencing the development of talent today and in the future?
- 2. What are the implications of these factors on a city's learning system?

The first step was to establish curated working groups of eight individuals, each incorporating a diverse mix of system stakeholders. Each working group was assigned a facilitator who led the exercises. In addition, a scribe was assigned to each group who was responsible for taking comprehensive notes of the discussion. The agenda considered the two questions independently and sequentially. For each question, individuals were asked to record factors on individual pieces of paper. No discussion was permitted during this exercise to ensure that their contribution was not influenced by the broader group. Once participants completed the exercise, they were asked to post their individual factors on a flip chart. All participants were asked to collaborate to cluster the factors into major themes. From this exercise, a series of consolidated themes emerged. The participants of each group then discussed and provided examples of each theme from their personal experience. This led to a robust facilitated discussion among participants at each table. Following this exercise participants were encouraged to circulate throughout the room to review other workgroup's outcomes.

"Alberta has one of the highest performing education systems in the world and we must build on this by adopting a more holistic view of learning."

Following the workshop, this post-it note exercise from each work group was first coded by the lead researcher (as suggested by Strauss & Corbin, 1990). Following this, the scribes' notes from each table were transcribed by the lead researcher. The second stage of the analysis process involved the synthesis and consolidation of themes between the work groups. To mitigate risk of content loss during the reduction process, a separate document was maintained of all content removed during the analysis. The document was then reviewed to ensure no critical content was lost during the reduction process. The composite themes that emerged are discussed below.

PHASE 1: RESULTS

Here we present the results from the thematic analysis.

Question 1: What are the factors influencing the development of talent today and in the future?

The future is a moving target: Driven by technology and social changes, the future demand for specific competencies is uncertain. Therefore, participants view that the value of talent today is anchored in the capacity to adapt into new roles, different contexts and acquire essential new competencies.

Shelf lives of domain-specific competencies are shortening: The shelf life of DSCs is shortening dramatically. Participants believe this is only accelerating. The result is ECs are emerging as foundational to dynamic learning systems.

Increasing diversity of learner profile: Learning can no longer be a life stage tied to a specific cohort of young adults: it is a lifestyle of lifelong learning. Therefore, the profile of learners will continue to diversify. This includes diversity of age, culture, professional backgrounds, and learning goals. Higher education and the entire learning system must adapt to reflect the unique personal learning needs of each individual. It is no longer a one-size-fits-all world.

Learning as an expense: Employee learning continues to be conceptualized as a cost, not an investment with meaningful return. This exposes funding for education and professional development to budgetary cycles. Partners in the learning system must demonstrate measurable value and pursue collaborative third-party funding.

Institutional inertia: The pace of societal change is in direct contradiction with the measured pace of the organizations at the heart of the learning system; from education, to government, to large corporations. Participants argued that there is not yet a deep sense of the emerging talent crisis facing the city.

Question 2: What are the implications of these factors on a city's learning system?

A city level adaptive challenge: Participants contend that the accelerating uncertainty facing the city is not cyclical; rather it is structural, impacting individuals and institutions.

Adaptive capacity starts with the individual: Participants viewed the adaptive capacity of a city as rooted in the adaptive capacity of its citizens. Therefore, it is essential for the city to develop an intentional strategy to prioritize developing not only adaptive individuals, but also the associated mechanisms to enable these competencies to be aggregated at the level of the organization, ecosystem, and city.

Reframing learning: Alberta has one of the highest performing education systems in the world and we must build on this by adopting a more holistic view of learning. includes accredited This and nonaccredited education partners, employers, professional associations/ accreditation. In this open model, participants viewed that learning would shift from a one-size-fitsall, to a co-created personalized learning model. This refocuses individuals and delivering partners from traditional learning to one that delivers dynamic personalized missions (missions that evolve over a lifetime, based on personal values and the broader societal dynamics). This dynamic learning model has a transformative impact on the entire learning system. Structural changes include: (1) transitioning from a linear to a education: looped model of (2) transitioning from a disciplinary "major" path to a dynamic mission model; and (3) integrating experience and education. This from demands that educators, all disciplines, possess both the academic training and applied experiences to bridge theory to career-oriented outcomes.

Interdependent competencies: To deliver city-level adaptive capacity, the learning system must balance the development of ECs and DSCs. Example ECs provided by participants include:

- o Curiosity
- Communication skills
- $\circ \quad \text{Capacity to learn} \\$
- Creativity
- Growth mindset
- Emotional intelligence
- Perseverance
- Analytical thinking and Problem solving
- Collaboration/ Relationships
- \circ Leadership
- \circ Self-starter
- Organization skills

The second category are domain-specific competencies linked to a specific role or sector (e.g., accounting or welding). Participants acknowledged that DSCs possess a far shorter lifespan and therefore, the development of DSCs must be accelerated through partnerships between educational institutions and employers. In this model, the employer transitions from a mere consumer of talent to a co-creator of talent.

> "Learning is no longer a sequential predictable "ladder", rather a nonlinear "climbing wall." The climbing wall must encourage and support continual exploration, experimentation, and refinement."

From ladder to climbina wall: Participants viewed learning as no longer a sequential predictable "ladder", rather a non-linear "climbing wall". The climbing wall must encourage and support continual exploration, experimentation, and refinement. The ability for ECs and DSCs to work together and scaffold in this climbing wall model is imperative. Therefore, a city's learning system must be designed to integrate diverse competency development pathways, including all forms of education (formal and informal) and experience (professional, volunteer, and contextual) resources. This must include an effective scaffolding of these credentials, so that these act as building blocks, rather than

isolated events. This change creates short-term gates for learners to consider.

Public education innovation: Public education must learn how to adapt and redefine itself in the context of declining public funding. These institutions and systems must increase their measurable value to their funders and identify innovative approaches to attract new funding to support talent development.

PHASE 1: SUMMARY

Two interrelated themes emerged from the Phase 1 data collection. The first theme is that accelerating uncertainty is a city-level challenge, requiring city-level solutions. The second theme is that a LearningCITY starts with citizens who possess the ECs that allow them to prosper in the face of uncertainty. Together these themes support our conceptualized systematic view of a city's adaptive capacity as an outcome of an aggregation of ECs from individuals to organizations to ecosystems. The results of Phase 1 framed a need to extend this study to explore the scope of societal demands for different ECs.

PHASE 2: ENABLING COMPETENCY DEMAND ANALYSIS

Based on the results of Phase 1, Phase 2 proceeds to explore the scope of demand for ECs across different professional fields and disciplines. To do so, we conduct a content analysis of a sample of global competency models to identify the different ECs identified across different models.

PHASE 2: METHODS

Following the method used by Miller, Wesley, and Williams (2012), a content analysis was completed of 15 competency models. The 15 models were selected to be representative across a broad range of disciplines and professional fields, including healthcare, management, finance, engineering, social work, and criminology (refer to Appendix-4). As identified by Braham and Tobin (2020), one of the major challenges facing researchers in the area of human capital is inconsistent definitions and labels. Thus, defining a concise coding scheme is essential for completing an empirical content analysis (Lubisco, Birren, & Vooris, 2019). To do so, the research team developed an EC codebook to define coding procedures and the definitions for each variable (Wong, Kember, Chung & Yan, 1995). As a baseline, we used three models to support the initial framing of the EC codebook.

The first was Alberta Education's competencies (Government of Alberta, 2016). This model includes eiaht competency clusters: critical thinking, problem solving, managing information, creativity and innovation, communication, collaboration, cultural and global citizenship, and personal growth and wellbeing.

The second was the *Employment and Training Administration Competency Model Clearinghouse* (ETAM) developed by the United States (U.S.) federal government and industry partners. ETAM defines competencies in nine distinct tiers, with lower tiers serving as building blocks for the higher tiers. The lower tiers (defined as foundational competencies) include a range of transferable, professional, and academic competencies. As the tiers increase, the competencies become more specific to an industry and/or occupation.

Thirdly, we used Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT, N.D.) Human Skills Matrix. This model incorporates 24 ECs clustered in four categories (thinking, interacting, managing ourselves and leading). The final element we considered at this stage was the enabling competencies that emerged from Phase 1. Refer to Appendix-5 for the mapping from this stage.

Following ETAM and Human Skills, the first level analysis was based on higher-order competency clusters (e.g., interpersonal competencies). The second level broke each down to specific competencies (e.g., verbal communications). The third level defined and tracked consistent keywords associated with each second level competency to ensure consistency and eliminate potential double counting. The addition of keywords was iterative and refined through the coding process by the coders. Three researchers independently coded each competency model. In doing so, they decided whether phrasing, word the or sentence encapsulated the defined competency. If the coder judged that any portion of the model incorporated the competency, the competency was coded as present using a "1." Following the completion of coding all models, the researchers consolidated their codebooks. Each researcher then completed

a second review based on the consolidated codebook. Refer to Appendix-6 for the definitions, literature support and full codebook to be tested in Phase 2.9 Following the outcome of our literature review, competency model analysis and outcomes of Phase 1, we defined four clusters of ECs includina analvtical competencies, interpersonal competencies, foundational literacies, and professional enabling competencies. Refer to Figure-2 for the full list of ECs incorporated in this study.



Figure-2: Four cluster model of enabling competencies

⁹ The list of ECs incorporated in this study must be refined through additional research and community consultation.

PHASE 2: RESULTS



Figure-3: Enabling competencies coding results (individual-level)



Figure-4: Enabling competencies coding results (cluster-level)

As reported in Figures-3 and 4, the majority of the ECs overwhelming embedded in this study have widespread support across the diverse range of 15 competency models. The interpersonal competencies cluster had the broadest support with a mean competency score of 76 per cent ¹⁰; followed by analytical competencies (67 per cent); foundational literacies (62 per cent); and professional enabling competencies (52 per cent). This finding provides support for the proposition that ECs are foundational, providing an individual the capacity to adapt to different roles and contexts. The implication of these findings will now be considered.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

This study has presented a perspective on how Calgary develops a learning capacity to adapt to compete in the new economy. This perspective is rooted in the evolution of the learning system to foster a set of enabling competencies across the population. This learning system must be built on a shared vision that developing a LearningCITY is anchored in developing adaptive people. This type of change mandates collective action at the city, ecosystem, employer, and individual level.

If this change is successful, Calgary stands to take control of its future and its remarkable comeback. If this change fails, Calgary may forever be at the whim of market forces, dancing to the tune of the globalized economy.

Herein, we defined and tested three propositions. Table-2 reviews the results framed by the three propositions and their associated implications.



¹⁰ This is the percentage that the specific competencies in a cluster were included in the 15 competency models.

Table-2: Conclusion and Implications

Proposition	Conclusion	Implications
Proposition 1: Enabling competencies are the foundation of an individual's adaptive capacity.	Enabling competencies: This study found a strong consensus on the foundational role of ECs in the development of talent and individual adaptive capacity.	Structural implication: The increasing foundational role of ECs will have a significant structural impact on a learning system that has an increasingly DSC focus.
	Lack of intentionality: Our findings suggest there is limited sustained focus on the intentional scaffolding and development of ECs over an individual's lifetime. Moreover, the current fragmented learning system assigns limited accountability for the development of ECs. The implication is a labour force of increasingly static talent.	Accountability: These structural implications will lead to increasing demands on measurement and evidence of ECs. Competency model: To maximize efficiencies and ensure alignment, the city must define a unified competency model. This model will frame the priority learning outcomes for the learning system.
Proposition 2: Adaptive individuals are the foundation of adaptive organizations and ecosystems.	Adaptive people: The results offer strong support that adaptive individuals are the foundation of adaptive organizations and ecosystems. Aggregation: This study highlights the importance of embedding intentional mechanisms to facilitate the effective aggregation of adaptive individuals into organizations and ecosystems.	Learner Role: The role of the learner must fundamentally change from a passive consumer of learning to an active designer of learning based on their unique goals and mission. This has cascading implications on the entire learning system from classrooms to employers. From ladder to climbing wall: The adaptive and agile need for continuous learning will shift the model from a linear, predictable ladder to an explorative climbing wall with multiple pathways to a learner's destination. From consumer to co-creator: Employers can no longer play the role of a passive consumer of talent; they must transform into active co-creators of this talent as part of a systematic open learning system. This new role must involve a commitment supporting universal EL.

Proposition 3:

A LearningCITY is founded on adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems through aggregation mechanisms, such as knowledge diffusion, boundary spanners and shared vision.

Systematic spiraling up:

Consistent with Proposition 2, this study concludes that a LearningCITY is the effective spiraling up – the aggregation of adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems.

Open learning: The city's traditional learning system represents a small fraction of the city's learning capacity. The modern learning system, including employers, schools boards, postsecondary institutions, non-profits, learners and beyond, is highly fragmented with limited coordination and no shared vision or purpose.

Significant barriers: There are enormous structural and cultural barriers to the development and implementation of a city-wide learning strategy.

Lacking structural capital: With no shared vision or purpose, the city lacks the core structural capital that underpins the capacity to aggregate adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems into a LearningCITY. Instead, most aggregation mechanisms remain limited internally to organizations, with only limited examples of aggregation at an ecosystem level. There was no evidence of intentional and systematic use of mechanisms to aggregate adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems at a city-level. The result is risk of system-level duplication and inefficiencies.

Shift from closed to open

learning system: The city must transform to an integrated open learning system that leverages the full capacity of the current learning resources and ensures scarce resources are aligned towards a shared goal.

Define a shared vision: This reenvisioned learning system must be founded on a shared vision of developing a LearningCITY, anchored in adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems.

Invest in structural capital: The foundation of a shared learning vision should be the commitment to developing the required structural capital for the city's learning system to work as a system. The anchor should include the establishment of a unified community competency model to prioritize future resource allocation. Additional areas include establishing mechanisms for system wide knowledge mobilization, coordinated experiments and shared open resources.

CONCLUSION

TRANSFORMING CALGARY INTO LEARNINGCITY 2025: AN ACTION PLAN

We are not educating students for the world we grew up in, not even for the world that exists today, but for the future they will live into, a future that we can barely imagine.

- Gordon Brown¹¹

In this report, we assert that reinventing Calgary must begin by reinventing how we learn. Our study explored the rich multidisciplinary literature and delivered two empirical studies to examine how Calgary's learning system could be optimized to drive social and economic prosperity in the face of accelerating uncertainty. In this section, we offer a series of five pillars to transition Calgary to a LearningCITY.

It is important to acknowledge that systemic innovation does not need to be solely a top-down initiative, rather it can be triggered by piloting and iterating smallscale experiments. Therefore, though we identify the lack of coordination and shared vision as a critical barrier, progress towards an integrated open learning system is not dependent on the process of developing institutional and political consensus and an associated plan. Rather, progress can begin by harnessing and coordinating the learning ecosystem, including educators, practitioners, policymakers, and learners, who are today experimenting and iterating new approaches to learning. Moreover, numerous organizations, including Calgary Economic Development, the Calgary

Chamber of Commerce, Platform Calgary, the Immigrant Education Society, and others are beginning to proactively confront the learning challenges facing our city. The future must build on our rich traditions yet be re-envisioned to develop the essential adaptive capacity that will define and anchor our future prosperity. Only when every Calgarian possesses the capacity to embrace uncertainty as an opportunity, will our city and every citizen step back from the precipice and climb to new heights.

Based on the results of this study, we define five pillars to initiate the process of transforming our learning system. These pillars are summarized in Table-3. For additional details on these pillars, refer to the report, *Calgary on the Precipice: The Path to LearningCITY 2025* available HERE.



Figure-5: A plan for LearningCITY 2025

 $^{^{11}}$ Former Dean of Engineering at MIT as quoted in Luksha et al. (2018).

Table-3: The Path to LearningCITY 2025

Calgary 2020	LearningCITY 2025	Action		
TRANSITION TO AN INTEGRATED OPEN LEARNING SYSTEM				
 Closed system dominated by 402 accredited learning institutions with limited integration. Anchored by 294,000 learners registered in accredited programs. Limited knowledge or integration of non-accredited learning into the current system. 	 Open-innovation model of 154,661 accredited learning institutions, employers, other service providers, accreditation bodies and learners. 	 LearningCITY task force facilitates the development of a shared city learning vision. Delivering this vision becomes the shared goal of the entire learning system. 		
TRAI	NSITION TO PURPOSE-BASED LEAR	NING		
 Learning system defined by life stage. Anchored by 294,000 learners registered in accredited programs. 	 Personalized lifelong purpose- based learning anchored in scaled empowerment, mission mapping and experimentation. Incorporates 1.4M Calgarians. 	 Integrate a consistent system wide mission mapping process starting in grade 10 through postsecondary and beyond. 		
u	INIVERSAL EXPERIENTIAL LEARNIN	G		
 Experiential learning is defined by program needs. Therefore, in applied/ professional programs it is deeply embedded, in others, it is non-existent. 	 Integrated experiential learning defined by universal self-directed experiential learning for all postsecondary students. 	 Establish integrated and scalable experiential learning model to empower educators, learners, and community partners. 		
1	DEVELOP ENABLING COMPETENCIE	S		
 Limited accountability for systematic EC development from kindergarten to postsecondary. DSCs developed through multi- year degrees and diplomas, or fragmented self-directed learning/ professional development. 	 Lifelong systematic and measured EC development anchored in a competency model. DSCs developed through an agile stacked micro-credential system. Credentials defined by domain. 	 Open learning system develops and commits to a unified community competency model. 		
INVEST IN CITY-LEVEL STRUCTURAL CAPITAL				
 Limited processes or structures enabling the coordination and alignment of the system. 	 Systems and processes established to maximize open learning system coordination and knowledge mobilization. 	 Develop a community forum for educators to share best practices and tools. 		

A PATH FORWARD. TOGETHER.

Today, Calgary's already-fragile economic and social fabric is threatened by both the pandemic and oil prices declining to the lowest level in a generation. These crises provide both a challenge and an opportunity to leverage our learning system as the essential driver of our city's transformation. These major threats and the dramatic changes that Calgarians are experiencing in their personal and professional lives have paved the way toward a different way of thinking about old problems.

The goal of this discussion paper is to start a debate about the future of Calgary and the role of learning and talent development as part of this re-envisioning and rebuilding. Decades of multidisciplinary research show us that embracing uncertainty is difficult for most people, organizations, and systems. The common response is a combination of denial and resistance. For this reason, we focus on the underlying multidisciplinary science to guide us on the many challenges of developing a LearningCITY. In doing so, we conclude that addressing these challenges must start with developing an open learning system committed to accelerating and nurturing the adaptive capacity within each of us. To be a city that adapts, Calgary's citizens must possess the lifelong capacity to learn.

This is not simply about adjusting the learning outcomes for students in kindergarten, university, or college. It's about re-envisioning the nature of learning and the learner by recognizing that traditional education systems, though essential, are only a small component of our city's rich, but fragmented learning system.

A central component of this report is the proposed adoption of the open innovation learning model. This model, adopted by companies ranging from Google to LEGO, recognizes that when you empower people, you accelerate innovation. Learners and employers are no longer customers of the traditional education system. They are, and need to be, co-creators in the learning process at all levels of education. However, with this empowerment comes significant responsibility to invest in this new model.

For learners, it means we must take increasing ownership of our learning, regardless of whether we are 16 or 60. Harvard is developing the Sixty Year Curriculum initiative to develop "new educational models that enable each person to retrain as their occupational and personal context shifts".

For employers, it means investing in learning far earlier and on a sustained basis. This investment may be collaboration with experiential learning in high schools, universities or colleges, or investment in training existing employees.

For policymakers and educators, it requires support for the timely development and approval of programs that provide the foundation of a re-envisioned open learning system designed to train adaptable citizens. Collaboration, though, can be difficult, especially across such diverse partners as policymakers, educators, and employers. Therefore, the greatest challenge for most of us is not external, but the embedded rules, routines, practices, and cultures that influence our individual mindsets, behaviours, and organizations. Yet we believe that the collaboration, compromise, and consensus required to implement an agile and open learning system anchored in adaptive capacity is an essential step forward.

The challenge to move forward on any of these proposed actions lies in the reality that education is a provincial mandate and is highly politicized. It's also a highly change-resistant sector. Therefore, we propose that Calgary city council establish independent **LearningCITY** an Task **Force**. This task force would incorporate the lessons learned from the Calgary Bid Exploration Committee, which was established to study the potential of



hosting the 2026 Olympic and Paralympic Games and could work alongside other task forces including the COVID-19 Economic Resilience Task Force. The LearningCITY Task Force would be given 12 months to engage the broader learning community and explore the following areas: ¹²

- 1. Identify emerging competency demands required to deliver on the *Calgary in the New Economy* economic strategy.
- 2. Benchmark global "best in class" open learning systems.
- 3. Audit the existing Calgary learning system, including:
 - a. programming gaps and opportunities
 - b. system-level interoperability
 - c. system-level governance
 - d. sustainability of current funding model
- 4. Define a LearningCITY 2025 vision.
- 5. Identify early adopter organizations and individuals in the city to rapidly begin open learning system experiments and share outcomes across the ecosystem.



Figure-6: A Proposed LearningCITY Task Force

¹² For an analysis of the CBEC process, please see Finch, D. J., Legg, D., O'Reilly, N., Wright, S., & Norton, B. (2020). A social capital view of an

Olympic and Paralympic Games bid exploration process. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 1-20.

- 6. Identify opportunities for increasing system-wide collaboration and accelerating partnerships and programming between employers and educational institutions.
- 7. Recommend a comprehensive path forward, including policy, funding, measurements, and governance to deliver on the LearningCITY 2025 vision.
- 8. We propose that the task force be structured with five working groups to

explore the five pillars (refer to Figure-7). These groups would receive support for extensive stakeholder engagement and benchmarking research through the LearningCITY Lab, an open collective of researchers and educators evidence-based committed to innovation in learning. The task force would submit a report to the community within 12 months. It's important to note that the task force should not become a barrier to concurrent innovation within the system.



Figure-7: A 12-month LearningCITY program

REFERENCES

Ackoff, R. L., Ackoff, R. L., & Emery, F. E. (2005). On purposeful systems: An interdisciplinary analysis of individual and social behavior as a system of purposeful events. *Transaction Publishers*.

Alavi, M., & Leidner, D.E. (2001). Review: Knowledge management and knowledge management systems: Conceptual foundations and research issues. *MIS Quarterly* 25(1), 107–136.

Aminu, M. I., & Mahmood, R. (2015). Mediating role of dynamic capabilities on the relationship between intellectual capital and performance: A hierarchical component model perspective in PLS-SEM path modeling. *Research Journal of Business Management*, 9(3), 443-456.

Ariana, S. M. (2010). Some thoughts on writing skills. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series, 19*(1).

Arnold, R. D., & Wade, J. P. (2015). A definition of systems thinking: A systems approach. *Procedia Computer Science*, 44(2015), 669-678.

Atluri, V., Dietz, M., & Henke, N. (July 2017). *Competing in a world of sectors without borders*. McKinsey Quarterly. Retrieved April 17, 2020 from https://www.mckinsey.com/businessfunctions/mckinsey-analytics/ourinsights/competing-in-a-world-of-sectorswithout-borders.

Ash, S. L., & Clayton, P. H. (2004). The articulated learning: An approach to guided reflection and assessment. *Innovative Higher Education*, 29(2), 137-154.

Barner-Rasmussen, W., Ehrnrooth, M., Koveshnikov, A., & Mäkelä, K. (2014). Cultural and language skills as resources for boundary spanning within the MNC. *Journal* of International Business Studies, 45(7), 886-905. Barney, J., & Felin, T. (2013). What Are microfoundations? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 27(2), 138–155. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2012.0107

Bathelt, H., Malmberg, A., & Maskell, P. (2004). Clusters and knowledge: local buzz, global pipelines and the process of knowledge creation. *Progress in Human Geography*, 28(1), 31-56.

Bernard, M., Chaturvedi, R. S., Hill, A., Maddox, C., & Schrimpf, M. (2012).
Tennessee Music Cluster. *Microeconomics of Competitiveness. Harvard Business School.*

Billet, S. (2011). Curriculum and Pedagogical Bases for Effectively Integrating Practice-Based Experiences. *Strawberry Hills, NSW: Australia Learning and Teaching Council.*

Bills, D. B. (2003). Credentials, signals, and screens: Explaining the relationship between schooling and job assignment. *Review of Educational Research*, 73(4), 441-449.

Bimrose, J., & Barnes, S. A. (2011). Profiling systems for effective labour market integration: New approaches to profiling and holistic assessment. *Mutual Learning Programme for Public Employment Services, European Commission (DG Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion)*.

Bierly, C., & Smith, A. (2019), Making the leap how to take the promise of careerconnected learning to scale, *Bain & Company*, available at: https://www.bain.com/insights/making-theleap-how-to-take-the-promise-of-careerconnected-learning-to-scale/

- Bindra, V. (2017). *Effective Planning and Time Management*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Björkman, I., Barner-Rasmussen, W., & Li, L. (2004). Managing knowledge transfer in MNCs: The impact of headquarters control

mechanisms. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *35*(5), 443-455.

Boisot, M. (2002). The creation and sharing of knowledge. *The Strategic Management of Intellectual Capital and Organizational Knowledge*, 65-77.

Boschma, R. (2015). Towards an evolutionary perspective on regional resilience. *Regional Studies*, 49(5), 733-751.

Boulding, K.E. (1956). General systems theory: The skeleton of science. *Management Science*, 2(3), 197–208.

Bourdieu, P. (1977). *Outline of a theory of practice* (Vol. 16). Cambridge University Press.

Bovill, C., Cook-Sather, A., & Felten, P. (2011). Students as co-creators of teaching approaches, course design, and curricula: Implications for academic developers. *International Journal for Academic Development*, *16*(2), 133-145.

Bower, M., & Konwerski, P. (2017). A mindset for career curiosity: Emerging leaders working in the digital space. *New Directions for Student Leadership*, *2017*(153), 89-101.

Boxenbaum, E., & Battilana, J. (2005). Importation as innovation: Transposing managerial practices across fields. *Strategic Organization*, *3*(4), 355-383.

Brannen, M. Y., & Thomas, D. C. (2010). Bicultural individuals in organizations: Implications and opportunity. *International Journal of Cross-Cultural Management*, 10(1), 5-16.

Braham, E. & Tobin, S. (2020). Solving the skills puzzle: The missing piece is good information. *Diversity Institute*. Retrieved from https://ppforum.ca/publications/solvingthe-skills-puzzle/

Burnette, J. L., Pollack, J. M., Forsyth, R. B., Hoyt, C. L., Babij, A. D., Thomas, F. N., & Coy, A. E. (2019). A growth mindset intervention: Enhancing students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy and career development. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 1042258719864293.

Busteed, B. (2019). This will be the biggest disruption in higher education. Forbes Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/brandonbust eed/2019/04/30/this-will-be-the-biggestdisruption-in-highereducation/#4ae0808e608a

Calgary Chamber of Commerce. (2019). *Dive Deeper – Small Business: There's Nothing Small About It*. Retrieved from https://www.calgarychamber.com/resource s/blog/dive-deeper-small-business-theresnothing-small/

Calgary Economic Development (2019a). Alberta Companies to Spend \$18.4 Billion on Digital Transformation by 2022. Retrieved from https://calgaryeconomicdevelopment.com/n ewsroom/alberta-companies-to-spend-18-4-billion-on-digital-transformation-by-2022/

Calgary Economic Development (2019b). Calgary in the New Economy. Retrieved from https://calgaryeconomicdevelopment.com/t he-new-economy/

Callaghan, E. G., & Colton, J. (2008). Building sustainable & resilient communities: A balancing of community capital. Environment. *Development and Sustainability*, *10*(6), 931-942.

Caniëls, M. C., Semeijn, J. H., & Renders, I. H. (2018). Mind the mindset! The interaction of proactive personality, transformational leadership and growth mindset for engagement at work. *Career Development International*.

Carlile, P. R. (2004). Transferring, translating, and transforming: An integrative framework for managing knowledge across boundaries. *Organization Science*, *15*(5), 555-568.

CEWL Canada. (2019). Work-Integrated Learning (WIL) Definitions. Retrieved from https://www.cewilcanada.ca/What_is_WIL_. html

Chesbrough, H. (2006). Open innovation: a new paradigm for understanding industrial innovation. *Open Innovation: Researching a New Paradigm*, 400, 0-19.

Chesbrough, H. W. (2011). Bringing open innovation to services. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 52(2), 85.

Coetzee, M., & Harry, N. (2014). Emotional intelligence as a predictor of employees' career adaptability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *84*(1), 90-97.

Cohen, W. M., & Levinthal, D. A. (1990). Absorptive capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *35*(1), 128-152.

Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94, 95-120.

- Coll, R. K., Eames, C. W., Paku, L. K., Lay, M. C., Hodges, D., Bhat, R., ... & Wiersma, C. (2011). An exploration of the pedagogies employed to integrate knowledge in workintegrated learning.
- Conference Board of Canada. (2019) Building Skills Connections Series: Skills for a Prosperous Alberta Retrieved from https://www.conferenceboard.ca/focusareas/education-skills/building-skillsconnectionsseries?AspxAutoDetectCookieSupport=1

Cooper, L. O. (1997). Listening competency in

- the workplace: A model for training. Business Communication Quarterly, 60(4), 75-84.
- Chakravarthy, B. S. (1982). Adaptation: A promising metaphor for strategic management. *Academy of Management Review*, *7*(1), 35-44.
- Chowdhury, S., Endres, M., & Lanis, T. W. (2002). Preparing students for success in team work environments: The importance of building confidence. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 346-359.
- Covin, J. G., & Slevin, D. P. (1989). Strategic management of small firms in hostile and benign environments. *Strategic Management Journal*, *10*(1), 75-87.

Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative and mixed methods approaches. *London and Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications*.

Cutean, A., & McLaughlin, R. (2019). A digital future for Alberta: An analysis of digital occupations in Alberta's high-growth sectors. *Information and Communications Technology Council* (ICTC). Ottawa, Ontario.

Cuthill, M. (2003). The contribution of human and social capital to building community well-being: A research agenda relating to citizen participation in local governance in Australia. *Urban Policy and Research*, *21*(4), 373-391.

D'Aveni, R. A. (2010). *Hypercompetition*. Simon and Schuster.

- Day, G. S., & Schoemaker, P. J. (2020). How vigilant companies gain an edge in turbulent times. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 61(2), 56-64.
- Dede, C. (2018, October 19). The 60 Year Curriculum: Developing New Educational Models to Serve the Agile Labor Market. Retrieved from: https://evolllution.com/revenuestreams/professional_development/the-60year-curriculum-developing-neweducational-models-to-serve-the-agilelabor-market/
- DeFillippi, R., & Ornstein, S. (2003). Psychological perspectives underlying theories of organizational learning. In M. Easterby-Smith & M. A. Lyles (Eds.), The Blackwell handbook of organizational learning and knowledge management. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- De Geus, A. P. (1988 March/April). Planning as learning. *Harvard Business Review*, 70-74.

Deloitte. (2015). Business Ecosystems Come of Age. Deloitte University Press. Retrieved from https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/ins ights/us/articles/platform-strategy-newlevel-business-trends/DUP_1048-Businessecosystems-come-ofage_MASTER_FINAL.pdf

De Pablos, P. O. (2004). Measuring and reporting structural capital. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, *5*(4), 629-646.

Dewey, J. (1923). *Democracy and Education: An Introduction to The Philosophy of Education*. Macmillan.

Diamandis, P. H., & Kotler, S. (2012). *Abundance: The future is better than you think*. Simon and Schuster.

Dornan, A., Finch, D., Levallet, N. Raby, S., Ross, S., Swiston, A. (2020). An entrepreneurial view of universal workintegrated learning. *Education* + *Training* (In-Press).

Dweck, C. (2015). Carol Dweck revisits the growth mindset. *Education Week*, 35(5), 20-24.

Employment and Training Administration (ETA) Industry Competency Initiative. (N.D.) *Competency Model Clearinghouse*. Retrieved from https://www.careeronestop.org/competenc ymodel/getstarted/eta-industrycompetency-initiative.aspx

- Emery, M., & Flora, C. (2006). Spiralling-up: Mapping community transformation with community capitals framework. *Community Development*, *37*(1), 19-35.
- Feldman, M. & Zoller, T.D. (2012) Dealmakers in Place: Social Capital Connections in Regional Entrepreneurial Ecosystems, *Regional Studies*, 46(1): 23-37.
- Finch, D., & Levallet, N. (2020). A dynamic capabilities view of talent acquisition:
 Resource verification and risk management.
 Included in: A Dynamic Look at
 Organizational Behaviour Topics. Edward
 Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham. U.K.
- Finch, D., Nadeau, J., & O'Reilly, N. (2013). The future of marketing education: A practitioner's perspective. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 35(1), 54-67.
- Fink, L. D. (2013). *Creating significant learning experiences: An integrated approach to designing college courses*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Florida, R. (2010). *Who's your city?: How the creative economy is making where to live the most important decision of your life*. Vintage Canada.
- Florida, R., Mellander, C., & Stolarick, K. (2008). Inside the black box of regional development—human capital, the creative class and tolerance. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 8(5), 615-649.
- Foss, N. J. (2011). Invited Editorial: Why micro-foundations for resource-based theory are needed and what they may look like. *Journal of Management*, *37*(5), 1413– 1428. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920631039021 8
- Frambach, J. M., Driessen, E. W., Chan, L. C., & van der Vleuten, C. P. (2012). Rethinking the globalisation of problem-based learning: How culture challenges self-directed learning. *Medical Education*, 46(8), 738– 747
- Fullan, M., & Loubser, J. J. (1972). Education and adaptive capacity. Sociology of Education, 271-287.
- Fuller Jr, B., & Marler, L. E. (2009). Change driven by nature: A meta-analytic review of the proactive personality literature. *Journal* of Vocational Behavior, 75(3), 329-345.

- Gardner, C. T., Milne, M. J., Stringer, C. P., & Whiting, R. H. (2005). Oral and written communication apprehension in accounting students: Curriculum impacts and impacts on academic performance. *Accounting Education*, *14*(3), 313-336.
- Garvin, D. A. (1993). Building a learning organization. *Harvard Business Review*, 71(4).
- Gavetti, G., Greve, H. R., Levinthal, D. A., & Ocasio, W. (2012). The behavioral theory of the firm: Assessment and prospects. *Academy of Management Annals*, 6(1), 1–40.
- Gawad, N., Allen, M., & Fowler, A. (2019). Decay of Competence with Extended Research Absences During Residency Training: A Scoping Review. *Cureus*, *11*(10). Accessed on March 1, 2020 from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC6874279/pdf/cureus-0011-00000005971.pdf
- Gilbert, M. (2017). What Apple Can Teach Business About Disruption. *Fortune*, Jan 12.
- Glaeser, E. L., & Saiz, A. (2003). The rise of the skilled city (No. w10191). National Bureau of Economic Research. Geographers, 92(4), 743-755.
- Glaeser, E. L., & Gottlieb, J. D. (2006). Urban resurgence and the consumer city. *Urban Studies*, *43*(8), 1275-1299.
- Goby, V. P., & Lewis, J. H. (2000). The key role of listening in business: A study of the Singapore insurance industry. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 63(2), 41-51.
- Government of Alberta (2016). *Competencies Descriptions, Indicators and Examples*. Retrieved from https://education.alberta.ca/media/327299 8/competency-indicators-september-30-2016.pdf
- Government of Alberta (2017). Mining and oil and gas extraction industry. Retrieved from https://work.alberta.ca/documents/industry -profile-mining-oil-and-gas-extraction.pdf
- Government of Alberta (N.D.). *What is Numeracy*? Retrieved from https://education.alberta.ca/literacy-andnumeracy/numeracy/everyone/numeracyvideo/
- Graham, A., Hampton, M., & Willett, C. (2010). What not to write: An intervention in written communication skills for accounting

students. International Journal of Management Education, 8(2), 67-74.

Grimpe, C., & Hussinger, K. (2014). Resource complementarity and value capture in firm acquisitions: The role of intellectual property rights. *Strategic Management Journal*, *35*(12), 1762-1780.

Hawkins, R., Saunders, C., Gregson, G., & Josty, P. (2018). The Role of Medium-sized Enterprises in the Alberta Industrial Ecosystem. 30 Nov. The Centre for Innovation Studies.

Haynie, M., & Shepherd, D. A. (2009). A measure of adaptive cognition for entrepreneurship research. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *33*(3), 695-714.

Hess, J. J., McDowell, J. Z., & Luber, G. (2012). Integrating climate change adaptation into public health practice: Using adaptive management to increase adaptive capacity and build resilience. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *120*(2), 171-179.

Hirschi, A., Herrmann, A., & Keller, A. C. (2015). Career adaptivity, adaptability, and adapting: A conceptual and empirical investigation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 87, 1-10.

Hochanadel, A., & Finamore, D. (2015). Fixed and growth mindset in education and how grit helps students persist in the face of adversity. *Journal of International Education Research (JIER)*, *11*(1), 47-50.

Holland, J. H. (2006). Studying complex adaptive systems. *Journal of Systems Science and Complexity*, 19(1), 1-8.

Hsiao, R.-L., Tsai, D.-H., & Lee, C.-F. (2012). Collaborative knowing: The adaptive nature of cross-boundary spanning. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49(3), 463-491.

Human Skills Matrix. (N.D.). Abdul Latif Jameel World Education Lab. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Retrieved from https://jwel.mit.edu/about-human-skillsmatrix

Hutchinson, J., & Vidal, A. C. (2004). Using social capital to help integrate planning theory, research, and practice. *American Planning Association. Journal of the American Planning Association*, *70*(2), 142.

Hylton, M. E. (2018). The Role of Civic Literacy and Social Empathy on Rates of Civic Engagement among University Students. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 22(1), 87-106.

Ibarra, H. (2013). *Working Identity: Unconventional Strategies for Reinventing Your Career*. Harvard Business Press.

IBM. (N.D.). *P-TECH: When Skills Meet Opportunity, Success Happens.* Retrieved from https://www.ibm.com/thoughtleadership/ptech/index.html

Innes, J. E., & Booher, D. E. (1999). Consensus building and complex adaptive systems: A framework for evaluating collaborative planning. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 65(4), 412-423.

Jackson, D., & Chapman, E. (2012). Nontechnical competencies in undergraduate business degree programs: Australian and UK perspectives. *Studies in Higher Education*, 37(5), 541-567.

Jacobides, M. G., Cennamo, C., & Gawer, A. (2018). Towards a theory of ecosystems. *Strategic Management Journal*, *39*(8), 2255-2276.

Jacobs, J. (1961) *The death and life of great American cities*. Random House. New York.

Kaipainen, E., Braun R., & Arseneault, R. (2020, January 15). Experiential learning plan for the University of Calgary (2020-25). University of Calgary. Retrieved from http://ucalgary.ca/provost/sites/default/file s/EL%20Plan%202020-25.pdf

Karwowski, M. (2014). Creative mindsets: Measurement, correlates, consequences. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 8(1), 62.

Kidd, S. A., & Davidson, L. (2007). You have to adapt because you have no other choice: The stories of strength and resilience of 208 homeless youth in New York City and Toronto. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35(2), 219-238.

Kilgour, M., & Koslow, S. (2009). Why and how do creative thinking techniques work?: Trading off originality and appropriateness to make more creative advertising. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *37*(3), 298-309.

Koen, J., Klehe, U. C., Van Vianen, A. E., Zikic, J., & Nauta, A. (2010). Job-search strategies and reemployment quality: The impact of career adaptability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 77(1), 126-139. Kokkonen, J. (2014). Stepping into the emptiness: Scaffolding in organizational transition. *Learning Organization*, 21(3), 193-205.

Kolb, A. Y., & Kolb, D. A. (2005). Learning styles and learning spaces: Enhancing experiential learning in higher education. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 4(2), 193-212.

Koltay, T. (2011). The media and the literacies: Media literacy, information literacy, digital literacy. *Media, Culture & Society*, *33*(2), 211-221.

Krogh, G. V., Roos, J., & Slocum, K. (1994). An essay on corporate epistemology. *Strategic Management Journal*, 15(2), 53-71.

Lane, J., & Griffith, J. (2017). A case for a pan-Canadian competency framework. *Canada West Foundation*. Retrieved from https://cwf.ca/research/publications/match up-a-case-for-pan-canadian-competencyframeworks/

Lecusay, R., Rossen, L., & Cole, M. (2008). Cultural-historical activity theory and the zone of proximal development in the study of idioculture design and implementation. *Cognitive Systems Research*, 9(1-2), 92-103.

Levina, N., & Vaast, E. (2008). Innovating or doing as told? Status differences and overlapping boundaries in offshore collaboration. *MIS quarterly*, 307-332.

Lin, N. (2017). Building a network theory of social capital. In *Social Capital* (pp. 3-28). Routledge.

Lindsay, D. (2020, February 23). Notice of withdrawal of the frontier oil sands project application Canadian environmental assessment registry No. 65505. Retrieved from https://www.teck.com/media/Don-Lindsay-letter-to-Minister-Wilkinson.pdf

Loewenstein, G. (1994). The psychology of curiosity: A review and reinterpretation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *116*(1), 75.

Lubisco, R., Birren, G. F., & Vooris, R. (2019). Examining job postings in sport management academia. *Sport Management Education Journal*, *13*(2), 92-99.

Luksha, P., Cubista, J., Laszlo, A., Popovich. M. & Ninenko, I. (2018). Global education futures report: Educational ecosystems for societal transformation. *Global Education* *Futures Initiative*. Retrieved from http://www.globaledufutures.org/images/pe ople/GEF_april26-min.pdf

Luthans, F., Vogelgesang, G. R., & Lester, P. B. (2006). Developing the psychological capital of resiliency. *Human Resource Development Review*, *5*(1), 25-44.

Martin, R. (2012). Regional economic resilience, hysteresis and recessionary shocks. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 12(1), 1-32.

Martin, R. & Sunley, P. (2015) On the notion of regional economic resilience: conceptualization and explanation, *Journal* of Economic Geography, 15, p. 1-42.

Mathur, V. K. (1999). Human capital-based strategy for regional economic development. *Economic Development Quarterly*, *13*(3), 203-216.

McCrae, R. R., & Costa Jr, P. T. (1997). Personality trait structure as a human universal. *American Psychologist*, 52(5), 509.

McGrath, R. G., & MacMillan, I. C. (2000). The entrepreneurial mindset: Strategies for continuously creating opportunity in an age of uncertainty (Vol. 284). Harvard Business Press.

Millar, C. C., Groth, O., & Mahon, J. F. (2018). Management innovation in a VUCA world: Challenges and recommendations. *California Management Review*, 61(1), 5-14.

Miller, J. H., & Page, S. E. (2009). Complex Adaptive Systems: An Introduction to Computational Models of Social Life. Princeton University Press.

Miller, T. L., Wesley, C. L., & Williams, D. E. (2012). Educating the minds of caring hearts: Comparing the views of practitioners and educators on the importance of social entrepreneurship competencies. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *11*(3), 349-370.

Moran, M. & Lalli, S. (2020, April 18). Calgary will not go back to the 'way things were'. The Globe and Mail. Retrieved from https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/ article-calgary-will-not-go-back-to-the-waythings-were/

Mount, M. K., Barrick, M. R., Scullen, S. M., & Rounds, J. (2005). Higher-order dimensions of the big five personality traits and the big six vocational interest types. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*(2), 447-478.

Morgan, G. (2019, May 3). After 50 years of trying to diversify its economy, Alberta is still stuck on oil. *Financial Post*. Retrieved from

https://business.financialpost.com/commodi ties/energy/after-50-years-of-trying-todiversify-its-economy-alberta-is-still-stuckon-oil

Mudambi, R., & Swift, T. (2009). Professional guilds, tension and knowledge management. *Research Policy*, *38*(5), 736-745.

Mussel, P., Winter, C., Gelleri, P., & Schuler, H. (2011). Explicating the openness to experience construct and its subdimensions and facets in a work setting. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 19(2), 145-156.

Nahapiet J., & Ghoshal S. (1998). Social capital, intellectual capital, and the organizational advantage. *The Academy of Management Review*, *23*(2), 242–266.

Nonaka, I. (1991). Models of knowledge management in the West and Japan.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2019). *Education at a Glance*. Retrieved from https://read.oecdilibrary.org/education/education-at-aglance-2019_f8d7880d-en#page13

Öhman, A., & Mineka, S. (2001). Fears, phobias, and preparedness: toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. *Psychological Review*, 108(3), 483.

PwC. (2019). Building the energy workforce of the future. Retrieved from: https://www.pwc.com/ca/en/industries/ene rgy/energy-visions-2019/from-tech-totransformation/building-the-energyworkforce-of-the-future.html

PwC. (N.D.) Higher Apprenticeship Program. Retrieved from https://www.PriceWaterhouseCoopers.com. au/careers/students/higherapprenticeship.html

Parkinson, D. (2018, March). Alberta endures most annual job losses since early 1980s recession. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/reporton-business/economy/jobs/alberta-joblosses-last-year-worst-since-early-1980srecession-statscan/article28393681/ Pearce, C. L., & Ensley, M. D. (2004). A reciprocal and longitudinal investigation of the innovation process: The central role of shared vision in product and process innovation teams (PPITs). *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 25(2), 259-278.

Pignault, A., & Houssemand, C. (2016). Construction and initial validation of the work context inventory. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *92*, 1-11.

Pike, H. (2019, March 01). Calgary must 'fix the talent pipeline' to attract high-tech business, says economic development boss. Retrieved from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/calgary/c algary-economic-development-moranreport-2018-1.5038592

Pisano, G. P. (2015). A normative theory of dynamic capabilities: connecting strategy, know-how, and competition. *Harvard Business School Technology & Operations Mgt. Unit Working Paper*, (16-036). Retrieved from https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/ 1/23492374/16-036.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Pool, L. D., & Sewell, P. (2007). The key to employability: developing a practical model of graduate employability. *Education*+ *Training*, 49(4), 277-289.

Reed, L., & Jeremiah, J. (2017). Student grit as an important ingredient for academic and personal success. In *Developments in Business Simulation and Experiential Learning: Proceedings of the Annual ABSEL conference*, 44(1).

Ribeiro, J. & Khatoon, H. (2019). Adaptive action planning for a digital economy: Calgary's new economic strategy. *Public Sector Digest.* Retrieved from https://calgaryeconomicdevelopment.com/a ssets/Uploads/Adaptive-Action-Planning-fora-Digital-Economy-Calgarys-New-Economic-Strategy3.pdf

Right Management (N.D.) *Flux and the future. Counting the cost of five years of change.* Retrieved from https://www.hrreview.co.uk/wpcontent/uploads/Right-Management-Infographic-The-Flux-Report.png

Roberts, M. J., & Beamish, P. W. (2017). The scaffolding activities of international returnee executives: A learning based perspective of global boundary spanning.

Journal of Management Studies, *54*(4), 511-539.

Rothwell, W. J. (2002). *The workplace learner: How to align training initiatives with individual learning competencies*. Amacom Books.

Rudolph, C. W., Lavigne, K. N., & Zacher, H. (2017). Career adaptability: A metaanalysis of relationships with measures of adaptivity, adapting responses, and adaptation results. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 98, 17-34.

Sado, E., Cannon, E. & Jenkins, T. (2017). Work-integrated learning provides students with the skills to prepare them for the changing labour market. *Policy Options*. Retrieved from https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/m arch-2017/linking-the-classroom-and-theworkplace/

Sattler, P., Wiggers, R., & Arnold, C. H. (2011). Combining workplace training with postsecondary education: The spectrum of work-integrated learning (WIL) opportunities from apprenticeship to experiential learning. *Canadian Apprenticeship Journal*.

Savickas, M. L. (1997). Career adaptability: An integrative construct for life-span, life-space theory. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *45*(3), 247-259.

Savickas, M. L., & Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career adapt-abilities scale: Construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *80*(3), 661-673.

Schotter, A., Mudambi, R., Doz, Y. L., & Gaur, A. (2017). Boundary spanning in global organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, 54(4), 403-421.

Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1998). The validity and utility of selection methods in personnel psychology: Practical and theoretical implications of 85 years of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124(2), 262.

Schwartz, D. L., Bransford, J. D., & Sears, D. (2005). Efficiency and innovation in transfer. *Transfer of learning from a modern multidisciplinary perspective*, 3, 1-51.

Scott, W. R. (1995). Institutions and Organizations. Foundations for *Organizational Science*. London: A Sage Publication Series.

Senge, P. M. (1990). The art and practice of the learning organization.

Shaw, M., & Martin, I. (2000). Community work, citizenship and democracy: remaking the connections. *Community Development Journal*, *35*(4), 401-413.

Slatcher, R. B., & Pennebaker, J. W. (2006). How do I love thee? Let me count the words: the social effects of expressive writing. *Psychological Science*, 17(8), 660-664.

Society of Human Resource Management (SHRM). (2019). 2019 state of the workplace. exploring the impact of the skills gap and employment-based immigration. Retrieved from https://www.shrm.org/aboutshrm/Documents/SHRM%20State%20of%2 0Workplace_Bridging%20the%20Talent%2 0Gap.pdf

Staber, U., & Sydow, J. (2002). Organizational adaptive capacity: A structuration perspective. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 11(4), 408-424.

Stanford University, 2019. Purpose learning. Available at: http://www.stanford2025.com/purposelearning.

Stiwne, E. E., & Jungert, T. (2010). Engineering students' experiences of transition from study to work. *Journal of Education and Work*, 23(5), 417-437.

Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research*. Sage publications.

Teece, D. J. (2007). Explicating dynamic capabilities: The nature and microfoundations of (sustainable) enterprise performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, *28*(13), 1319–1350.

Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. *Strategic Management Journal*, *18*(7), 509-533.

Tsoukas, H. (2009). A Dialogical approach to the creation of new knowledge in organizations. *Organization Science*, 20(6), 941-957.

Tushman, M. L., & Romanelli, E. (1985). Organizational evolution: A metamorphosis model of convergence and reorientation. *Research in Organizational Behavior*.

- UNESCO (2015). UNESCO Global Network of Learning Cities - Guiding Documents. *UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning*. Retrieved April 17, 2020 from https://uil.unesco.org/fileadmin/keydocume nts/LifelongLearning/learning-cities/enunesco-global-network-of-learning-citiesguiding-documents.pdf
- Urban, M. C., & Johal, S. (2020). Understanding the future of skills: trends and global policy responses. *Future Skills Centre*. Retrieved from https://fscccf.ca/research/understanding-the-futureof-skills-trends-and-global-policyresponses/
- U.S. Army Heritage and Education Center (N.D.). Who first originated the term VUCA (Volatility, Uncertainty, Complexity and Ambiguity)?. USAHEC Ask Us a Question. The United States Army War College. Retrieved from http://usawc.libanswers.com/faq/84869
- Van Alstyne, M., Parker, G., & Choudary, S. (2016). Platform revolution: How networked markets are transforming the economy–and how to make them work for you.
- Van Der Duin, P., Ortt, R., & Kok, M. (2007). The cyclic innovation model: a new challenge for a regional approach to innovation systems?. *European Planning Studies*, *15*(2), 195-215.
- Volberda, H. W. (1996). Toward the flexible form: How to remain vital in hypercompetitive environments. *Organization Science*, 7(4), 359-374.
- Volberda, H. W., Foss, N. J., & Lyles, M. A. (2010). Absorbing the concept of absorptive capacity: How to realize its potential in the organization field. *Organization Science*, *21*(4), 931-951.
- Von Esch, K.S., & Kavanaugh, S.S. (2018). Preparing mainstream classroom teachers of English learner students: Grounding

practice-based designs for teacher learning in theories of adaptive expertise development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 69(3), 239-251.

- Welch, F. (1970). Education in production. *Journal of Political Economy*, *78*(1), 35-59.
- Wightman, B. (2020). Hundreds of millions of workers need reskilling. Where do we start? *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/01 /hundreds-of-millions-of-workers-needreskilling-where-do-we-start/
- Williamson, P. J., & De Meyer, A. (2012). Ecosystem advantage: How to successfully harness the power of partners. *California Management Review*, 55(1), 24–46.
- Wong, F. K., Kember, D., Chung, L. Y., & CertEd, L. Y. (1995). Assessing the level of student reflection from reflective journals. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22(1), 48-57.
- World Data (N.D.) *The Evolution of Education Outcomes*. Retrieved from https://ourworldindata.org/global-education
- World Economic Forum (2018). Future of jobs report. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/reports/thefuture-of-jobs-report-2018
- World Economic Forum (2020). Jobs of Tomorrow Mapping Opportunity in the New Economy. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Jobs_ of_Tomorrow_2020.pdf
- Zhang, X., Ryan, S. D., Prybutok, V. R., & Kappelman, L. (2012). Perceived obsolescence, organizational embeddedness, and turnover of its workers: an empirical study. ACM SIGMIS Database: the DATABASE for Advances in Information Systems, 43(4), 12-32.
- Zollo, M., & Winter, S. G. (2002). Deliberate learning and the evolution of dynamic capabilities. *Organization Science*, *13*(3), 339-351.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

Adaptive Capacity: Adaptive capacity is the ability for an individual or institution (e.g., organizations or ecosystems) to systematic anticipate changes and proactively reconfigure existing resources competency development), (e.g., or acquire new resources (e.g., recruit new talent), to maintain a competitive (and/or comparable) advantage. Adaptive capacity presumes that the individual or institution maintains significant independence from the external environment through systematic planning. This is in contrast with resiliency that assumes dominance of the external environment over the individual or institution.

LearningCITY: A LearningCITY is the aggregation of adaptive individuals, organizations, and ecosystems.

Adaptive Ecosystems: An adaptive ecosystem is a form of inter-organization collaboration facilitating accelerated learning and innovation. Enabled by increased connections across specialized areas, ecosystems leverage shared knowledge to develop new, co-created solutions and business models that address complex problems. Clear governance mechanisms are essential to ensuring that as ecosystems evolve, the value continues

to accrue to the shared goals of the ecosystem.

Adaptive Institutions: Adaptive institutions incorporate the adaptive capacity embedded in organizations or ecosystems.

Adaptive Organizations: An adaptive organization can anticipate change and reconfigure existing resources or acquire new resources to maintain a sustainable competitive advantage. Adaptive organizations are dynamic and embody a culture of experimentation and a state of continuous learning and reinvention. This is manifested in developing learning and dynamic capabilities.

Adaptive Individuals: Adaptive individuals manifests itself through career adaptability, where individuals anticipate and proactively assume responsibility for the development of their future competencies. Career adaptability includes embracing uncertainty, continuous reinvention. learning, and Career adaptability is facilitated by the ability of individuals to successfully combine personal competencies with career uncertainty.

Apprenticeship: Apprenticeship is an agreement between a person (an apprentice) who wants to learn a competency and an employer who needs a skilled worker and who is willing to sponsor the apprentice and provide paid related

practical experience under the direction of a certified journeyperson in a work environment conducive to learning the tasks, activities and functions of a skilled worker. Apprenticeship combines about 80 per cent at-the-workplace experience with 20 per cent technical classroom training, and depending on the trade, takes about 2-5 years to complete. Both the workplace experience and the technical training are essential components of the learning experience.

Boundary Spanners: Boundary spanners are these individuals (and organizations through them) who possess the capacity to push beyond their current boundaries. perspective, From а city boundary spanners are individuals and institutions who link or aggregate resources, knowledge, and practices in novel ways to accelerate or expand a city's adaptive capacity. At a city level, boundary spanners incorporate institutions that are designed, and in practice, bridge traditional sectoral boundaries. This may include economic development agencies, chambers of commerce, ecosystem facilitators or nonprofit organizations.

Cognition: Cognitive resources incorporate critical thinking skills, decision making, problem solving, reasoning, ability to learn from previous situations and the competency to self evaluate one's cognitive abilities to do any of the previously listed cognitive tasks. Includes meta-cognitive self-reflection (thinking about, and critically evaluating, one's own thought processes) and personal meta-cognition knowledge.

Competency Models: Competency models allow policymakers, employers, and individuals to assess the current state of human capital and guide the allocation of scarce development resources (e.g., education and training). They have proven to be effective because they provide guidance, common vocabulary, and consistency in competency classifications.

Complex Adaptive Systems: Complex adaptive systems are when agents interact to generate system wide patterns that

influence both the behaviour of the agent and the system. In a social context, interaction influences the attitudes and beliefs of the agency that influence their respective behaviours. This behaviour then influences system-wide patterns.

Co-operative Education (co-op alternating and co-op internship models): Co-op alternating consists of alternating academic terms and paid work terms. Co-op internship consists of several co-op work terms back-to-back. In both models, work terms provide experience in a workplace setting related to the student's field of study. The number of required work terms varies by program; however, the time spent in work terms must be at least 30 per cent of the time spent in academic study for programs over 2 years in length and 25 per cent of time for programs 2 years and shorter in length.

Domain-Specific Competencies: DSCs incorporate the knowledge, skills, attitudes, values, and behaviors required to complete specific tasks associated with a role (e.g., accounting, welding) and/or a sector (e.g., energy, sport).

Ecosystems: A form of inter-organization collaboration. What makes the ecosystem lens unique is that the interdependency recognizes that the health of the individual components is dependent on the overall health and sustainability of the larger one. The reliance of the whole thus depends on the breadth and depth of interconnections between the component parts. In a business context, an ecosystem is a formal or informal network of stakeholders (e.g., producers, distributors, consumers, educators, government agencies, competitors etc.) that collaborate to create, scale, and serve markets beyond the capacity of a single organization or traditional sector.

Education: Education encompasses both accredited and non-accredited training that contribute to the development of cognitive and personality resources. This incorporates all delivery forms from formal education (kindergarten to postsecondary)

to vocational training to self-directed (e.g., reading).

Enabling Competencies: ECs (also referred to as meta-skills, human-skills, soft-skills, and transferable-skills) incorporate the knowledge, skills, attitudes, values, and behaviors required to deliver adaptive, thinking, interpersonal, communication, organization, and professional competencies.

Entrepreneurship (EL): Allows a student to leverage resources, space, mentorship and/or funding to engage in the early stage development of business start-ups and/or to advance external ideas that address real-world needs for academic credit.

Experience: Experiences are professional (e.g., paid), volunteer (e.g., not compensated work) and contextual (e.g., personal experiences, such as travel) activities. Experience activities are more closely related to developing domain-specific competencies.

Experiential Learning Cycle: Kolb's (1984) holistic experiential learning cycle provides a model of transformational learning that intersects experience and conceptualization, drawing the attention of scholars and educators to the critical role of reflection in transforming an *experience* into a *learning experience*. However, this form of reflection must extend beyond simply thinking about an experience; it must encompass a deeper critical analysis to enable a learner to integrate theory into the durable practice forms that will guide their future actions. The University of Calgary has defined it as:

Experiential learning (EL) is learningby-doing that bridges knowledge and experience through critical reflection. EL activities are intentionally designed and assessed. As such, they empower learners to enhance individual and collaborative skills such as complex problem solving, professional practice skills, and teamwork. Reflecting critically on these activities helps individuals develop higher order thinking to

challenge and advance their perspectives. The EL process prepares students to take on roles as active citizens and thrive in an increasingly complex world (Kaipainen, Braun, & Arseneault, 2020 p. 11)

Faculty-Directed Experiential Learning: EL experience delivered as a course-based requirement. This initiative is integrated by a faculty member within a specific course and embeds an instructorled critical reflection mechanism to enrich the learning experience. Examples of faculty-directed EL today include coursebased community-service learning, coursebased live case studies; and course-based community-engaged research projects (e.g., honours thesis, directed reading).

Field Placement: Provides students with an intensive part-time/short term intensive hands-on practical experience in a setting relevant to their subject of study. Field placements may not require supervision of a registered or licensed professional and the completed work experience hours are not required for professional certification. Field placements account for workintegrated educational experiences not encompassed by other forms, such as coop, clinic, practicum, and internship.

Human Capital: Used herein as a synonym to *high-valued talent* and defines competencies as capital, similar to other forms of capital (e.g., financial capital, social capital). Herein, human capital can be viewed at the level of an individual, institution (e.g., organization or ecosystem) or city.

Internships: Usually discipline specific (typically full-time), supervised, structured, paid, or unpaid, for academic credit or practice placement. Internships may occur in the middle of an academic program or after all academic coursework is completed and prior to graduation. Internships can be of any length but are typically 12 to 16 months long.

Learning Organizations: Senge (1990) frames learning organizations as being

rooted in five disciplines. (1) personal mastery; (2) mental models; (3) a shared vision; (4) team learning; and (5) systems thinking that integrates the other four disciplines. Building on the Senge model, Garvin (1993 p. 7) defines a learning organization as one that is "skilled at creating, acquiring and transferring knowledge, and at modifying its behaviour to reflect new knowledge and insights".

Learning System: Core members of a learning system would include educational institutions, educators, policymakers, employers, and students.

Mission Mapping: A plan to deliver on a personal mission. This mission map can be organized around four components: (a) education & learning resources, (b) employment experience, (c) Community/ volunteer experience, (d) Contextual experience. We also recommend this map include the anticipated relationships they will need to achieve their mission (e.g., mentors, professional and personal). Developing a mission map will enable students to select the appropriate EL activity for their educational pathway.

Open Innovation: Learning occurs when knowledge is shared and converted into new practice. Open innovation is an example of knowledge diffusion that has facilitated the development of partnerships and the leveraging of complementary knowledge for innovation.

Professional Practicum/Clinical Placement: Involves work experience under the supervision of an experienced registered or licensed professional (e.g., preceptor) in any discipline that requires practice-based work experience for professional licensure or certification. Practica are generally unpaid and, as the work is done in a supervised setting, typically students do not have their own workload/caseload.

Research Projects: Students are engaged in research that occurs primarily in workplaces, including consulting projects, design projects, communitybased research projects (e.g., honours etc.).

Personality: Incorporates intrinsic personality traits including emotional stability, openness to experience, extraversion, agreeableness, and conscientiousness.

Service Learning: Community Service Learning (CSL) integrates meaningful community service with classroom instruction and critical reflection to enrich the learning experience and strengthen communities. In practice, students work in partnership with a city-based organization to apply their disciplinary knowledge to a challenge identified by the community.

Shared Vision: Shared vision is a picture of "what do we want to create?" It is an aggregation of "personal visions" from within a community.

Structural Capital: Structural capital is most commonly defined as the value of an organization when the employees have gone home and includes the processes and structures that enable the effective leveraging of other forms of capital, such as human capital or physical capital that generates incremental value. Structural capital may include dimensions such as intellectual property, culture, and knowledge management systems and processes. Herein, we propose structural capital as the tangible and intangible processes and infrastructure that facilitate the effective collaboration and alignment of individuals and institutions within a city.

Student-Directed Experiential **Learning:** This is when a student completes a self-directed community work experience initiative that directly supports the learning outcomes of their program but is independent of their program. Though this is independent, this type of EL embeds a supervised critical reflection mechanism to enrich the learning experience but is not necessarily assessed or graded for credit as part of the student's program of study or course requirements. Examples of studentdirected EL mechanisms include co-curricular entrepreneurship,

professional portfolio, research assistant for community- engaged research project, volunteer-experiences with embedded reflection. The benefit of this form of EL is that it empowers students to own and be accountable for developing a EL pathway that aligns to their professional and personal goals as defined by their mission map. In addition, this has a dual benefit of increasing student accountability, selfefficacy and reducing administrative burden and oversight.

Universal Experiential Learning (UEL): We define universal EL as a core requirement of all university undergraduate programs for all students, regardless of discipline. Students must complete a minimum of one EL experience, incorporating a minimum of 450 EL hours prior to graduation.

VUCA: Incorporates the constructs of volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity. *Volatility* reflects the dynamic

and speed of change. *Uncertainty* is the inability to predict the future due to external factors beyond a decision-makers control. *Complexity* acknowledges that systematic interacting forces make it difficult to identify direct cause-effect relationships. *Ambiguity* reflects the vagueness of present and future situations, amplifying risk to a decision-maker.

Work Experience: Intersperses one or two work terms (typically full-time) into an academic program, where work terms provide experience in a workplace setting related to the student's field of study and/or career goals.

Work-Integrated Learning (WIL): A model and process of curricular experiential learning which formally and intentionally integrates a postsecondary student's academic studies within a workplace or practice setting.¹³

¹³ WIL and EL related definitions sourced from https://www.cewilcanada.ca/_Library/2019/WIL-Def-ENGLISH_-_Updated_2019.pdf



APPENDIX 2: INTEGRATED DYNAMIC CAPABILITIES DEVELOPMENT





APPENDIX 3: PHASE 1 SAMPLE BY TALENT DEVELOPMENT STAKEHOLDERS

Stakeholder Group	Scope	Stratification Variables	% Participant
Accredited educational institutions	Individuals who facilitate accredited learning. This incorporates both educators and administrators. Inclusive of all accredited educational institutions from kindergarten to postsecondary.	 Level Gender Discipline Role 	22% (24)
Other education providers	Individuals who are non-accredited learning. This incorporates both educators and administrators. Inclusive of all non-accredited educational providers, including continuing education, professional development, and community-based education programming.	 Level Gender Discipline Role 	8% (9)
Employers	Organizations or individuals who employ staff.	 Industry Size Role 	66% (73)
Other	Including policymakers, professional associations and accreditation bodies and funders.	 Industry Occupation Role 	4% (4)

(n) = total sample from respective stakeholder group



APPENDIX 4: PHASE 2 COMPETENCY MODEL INVENTORY

Domain	Publisher	Year	Scope
1. Accounting	Chartered Global Management Accounting	2019	Global
2. Accounting Education, Training, and Certification	World Bank	2018	Global
3. Sales	Canadian Professional Sales Association	2017	Canada
4. Human Resources	Society and Human Resource Professionals	2012	Global
5. Human Resources	Human Resource Professional Association	2014	Canada
6. Policing	College of Policing	2016	United Kingdom
7. Engineering	Association of Professional Engineers & Geologists of Saskatchewan	2018	Saskatchewan, Canada
8. Social Work	Steering Committee for the National Social Work Competency Framework	2015	Singapore
9. Civil Service	Civil Service Human Resources	2017	United Kingdom
10. United Nations Education, Science Organization (UESCO) Management	UNESCO	2015	UNESCO
11. Organisation for Economic Co- operation and Development (OECD)	OECD	2014	OECD
12. Systems Engineering	ICOSE UK	2015	United Kingdom
13. International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) Staffing	IAEA	N.D.	IAEA
14. Prescribing Professionals	Royal Pharmaceutical Society	2016	United Kingdom
15. United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF) Staffing	UNICEF	N.D.	UNICEF

APPENDIX 5: ENABLING COMPETENCY MAPPING

Competency	Phase 1 Study	Alberta Education	MIT Human Skills	ЕТАМ
		Analytical Skills		
Adaptive Capacity				
Analytical Thinking				
Contextual Agility				
Creativity				
Curiosity				
Perseverance				
Problem Solving				
Reflection				
Problem Solving				
System Thinking				
Taking Initiative				
Time Management				
	Inte	erpersonal Competen	cies	
Collaboration				
Conflict Resolution				
Effective Listening				
Emotional Intelligence				
Influence				
Integrity				
Relationship Curation				
	F	oundational Literacie	S	
Civic Literacy				
Financial Literacy				
Numeracy				
Technology Literacy				
Verbal Communication				
Written Communication				
	Professi	ional Enabling Compe	tencies	
Define Workplace Goals				
Manage Resources				
Inspire and lead others				
Professional Identity				

Included

Not Included



APPENDIX 6: ENABLING COMPETENCY CODEBOOK

Competency	Definition	Keywords	Source(s)
	Analytical Com	petencies	
Analytical Thinking	 The ability to deconstruct issues into smaller, more manageable pieces, use evidence and reasoning to identify unique relationships between concepts and weigh the costs and benefits of the alternative actions available. Includes: Analyzing evidence and assumptions Applying reason and appropriate criteria to make a judgement. Apply knowledge from across fields to discover new or expand one's understanding. Ability to be objective and openminded. 	 Critical thinking Cost-benefit analysis Boundary spanning Systems thinker Critical evaluation 	Government of Alberta, 2016; Betts, 2015
Contextual Agility	The ability to work well no matter the context. The contextual setting can include the culture, socio-economic conditions, organization size, industry type, culture, and team composition.	 Accepting Open-minded Sensitivity Cultural competency Diversity Openness to experience Flexible thinking 	Pignault & Houssemand, 2016
Creativity	Use of imagination or original ideas to create something new and appropriate for the problem at hand.	 Innovative Out of the box thinking Original thinking Inventive Imagination 	Kilgour & Koslow, 2009

Curiosity	The ability to be curious and explore a deeper meaning than what is being overtly expressed. It can lead to the expansion of social networks and learning opportunities.	 Continuous learning Build professional capacity Continuous improvement Personal development "know what they don't know" Inquisitive Humility Lifelong learning Continuous review Active learning Respond to feedback Outward-looking nature 	Bower & Konwerski, 2017; Loewenstein, 1994.
Perseverance	Perseverance in the face of professional challenges is essential to adaptive capacity. This includes improvements in an individual's control of their emotional reactions to an intellectual challenge, learning from failure, understanding the importance of practice for competency development, how to manage obstacles in career advancement, and personal hardiness when faced with adversity. One caveat is that perseverance must be maintained within the context of excellent metacognitive abilities that are necessary to determine the point at which perseverance in a career becomes detrimental to being adaptable to uncertainty.	 Drive results Resilience Cope with pressure Dedicated attitude Remain calm in stressful situations Committed Overcome barriers Accountability Deliver Proactively complete tasks Work to completion Achievement focus Resolve 	Credé 2017; Hochanadel 2015; Luthans 2006; Reed & Jeremiah, 2017
Problem Solving	 Problem solving often leverages analytical thinking. Effective problem solving is made up of four interrelated skills: The ability to identify vital questions and problems and communicate them clearly. The ability to gather and evaluate relevant information. The ability to think open- mindedly, recognizing and assessing assumptions, implications, and practical consequences. The ability to come to well- reasoned conclusions and solutions, testing them against relevant criteria and standards. 	 Managing uncertainty Flexible thinking Troubleshooting Decision making Decide and initiate action Outside the box Asks questions Generating insights 	Government of Alberta, 2016; Kiilgour & Koslow, 2009
Reflection	Contemplation about one's character, actions, and motives. Provides an understanding of self, values, and how they impact thinking and actions. This	 Introspection Self-contemplation Introspection 	Ash & Clayton, 2004. Kolb & Kolb, 2005; Slatcher & Pennebaker, 2006.

	competency is under the umbrella of meta-cognitive thinking.		
System Thinking	The ability to evaluate the interdependency of discrete components of a whole, as well how these components affect the whole and vice-versa. This includes an individual's ability to understand complex systems, enabling the ability to anticipate potential outcomes and develop approaches to influencing these outcomes.	 Complex systems Strategy mapping Mind Mapping Interdependency Critical Evaluation Seek Root Cause Insight Considers the larger picture Ecosystem Management System Leadership Seeing the big picture 	Boulding, 1956; Ackoff, Ackoff & Emery, 2005; Arnold, & Wade, 2015
Takes Initiative	The discipline and ambition to start a task, regardless of difficulty, with limited guidance from others and be self-reliant under pressure.	 Self-starter Self-management Independence Responsive Achieve results Detail oriented Self-motivated 	Finch, Nadeau & O'Reilly, 2013
Time Management	Efficiently and effectively managing one's own time, the time of others, and deliverables for projects. Time management also includes the ability to manage and filter vast levels of information to make timely decisions.	 Organized Personal organization Planning and organizing Scheduling Follow timelines Productivity Meets deadlines 	Vivek Bindra, 2015; WEF, 2018
	Interpersonal Co	ompetencies	
Collaboration	Work proactively to have positive and mutually beneficial relationships with others. This includes the ability to cooperate with others to work towards a common goal.	 Collaborative Team player Work with people Relationship management Work effectively across diverse groups Able to work with all levels of members of organization 	Government of Alberta, 2016; Human Skills Matrix, N.D.
Conflict Resolution	The ability to resolve conflict or create common ground and reach a consensus when different options for forward movement in an organization are considered. The development of this competency encourages people with diverse perspectives to work together to evaluate options and resolve a shared problem.	 Negotiation Understand new perspectives Resolve issues Conflict management Resolve differences Reconciles conflict 	Jackson & Chapman, 2012
Emotional Intelligence	The ability to identify, assess and modulate one's own feelings and to understand the feelings of others. Emotional intelligence requires a mix	 Emotional intelligence Empathy Self-awareness 	Coetzee & Harry, 2014

	of self-awareness and empathy towards others. Dimensions of emotional intelligence include emotional management, self- awareness, optimism, motivation, empathy, and social skills.	 Emotional management Self-management Understanding others' needs 	
Influence	The ability to sway the attitudes or behaviour of others through evidence, logic, and emotion.	 Influence Persuasion Negotiation 	WEF, 2018
Integrity	Display consistent principles that conform with socially acceptable standards within the context of a place of employment. Includes encouraging others to be honest and trustworthy.	 Ethical behaviour Professionalism Fairness Transparency Respect for rules & policies Commitment to personal integrity Ethics Honesty Truthfulness 	Human Skills Matrix, N.D.
Relationship Curation	The ability to develop and maintain relationships with individuals who may share common interests or future goals.	 Relationships Networks Establishing Rapport Networking Build Trust Partnerships Stakeholder Relationships Relations 	Human Skills Matrix, N.D.
	Foundational	Literacies	
Civic Literacy	Both the knowledge of and the ability to effectively engage in, and influence change in social systems, including political, economic, and cultural.	 Knowledge of government, political, economic systems Knowledge of Government Social Literacy Social knowledge Political Savvy 	Government of Alberta, 2016; Hylton, 2018.
Effective Listening	The ability to commit full attention to what other people are saying, taking the time to understand points being made and ask questions when appropriate, without interrupting at improper times. (Listening to listen versus listening to answer.)	 Listening Attention to detail 	Cooper, 1997; Goby & Lewis, 2000
Financial Literacy	Both the knowledge of and the ability to make informed decisions on the allocation of financial resources. Includes areas such as personal financial management, budgeting, and investing.	 Financial Finance/Accounting Financial Reporting Financial knowledge 	Human Skills Matrix, N.D.

Numeracy	Both the knowledge of and the ability to work with and use numbers. Has the confidence and awareness to know when and how to apply quantitative and spatial understandings at home, at school, at work or in the community.	 Mathematical ability Good with numbers Numerate Quantitative Calculations (mathematical) 	Government of Alberta, N.D.
Verbal Communication	The ability to share information and explanations with a target audience by speaking in a persuasive and influential way. This includes vocabulary, tone, pace, volume, and articulation, with or without, technological support.	 Verbal Oral Cold calling Presentation 	Gardner, Milne, Stringer, & Whiting, 2005
Written Communication	The ability to share information and explanations with a target audience in writing in a persuasive, engaging, and influential way. This includes grammar, tone, vocabulary, and style.	 Writing Writing skills 	Gardner, Milne, Stringer, & Whiting, 2005; Ariana, 2010; Graham, Hampton, & Willett, 2010
Technology Literacy	Both the knowledge of, and the ability to effectively use technology to access, manage, integrate, evaluate, create, and communicate information in a digital environment. This includes an ability to effectively adapt to new digital devices and interfaces. General technical literacy is different from domain-specific technology competency	 Technical literacy Computer literacy Knowledge of common software programs and tools 	Koltay, 2011
	Professional Enablin	g Competencies	
Define Workplace Goals	Capacity to define future goals, objectives, and outcomes at an individual and organizational level and to use these goals to serve as motivators for the present action.	 Recognize and support team objectives Sets Defined Objectives Goal setting Objective setting Mission Vision 	ETAM, N.D.; WEF, 2018
Manage Organizational Resources	 Ability to define a plan to achieve organization goals. This may include: Evaluation of current financial and human resources available to execute the defined plan. Identifying current and future macro and micro level risks to achieving plan. Identify and prioritize existing resource gaps and secure incremental resources or alternatives. Ability to develop and manage rigorous budgets 	 Manage budget Resource management Manage people Management experience 	ETAM, N.D.; WEF, 2018

	 Ability to influence others to achieve goals, including the ability to delegate tasks. Ability to monitor progress towards achieving organizational and/or individual performance indicators. 		
Inspire and Lead Others	The ability to guide others to complete a task through charisma, rank, intellect, will or experience. A leader's influence may be formal (e.g., supervisor) or informal (e.g., social influence). This includes: the ability to establish a clear goal, the ability to communicate this goal to others, and the ability to balance the interests of others to engage them to deliver on this goal.	 Lead Organization Guide Leadership People management Take ownership Supervise Coach Mentor 	ETAM, N.D.; WEF, 2018
Professional Identity	One's self-concept based on attributes, beliefs, values, motives, and experiences. Research suggests that the formation of an individual's professional identity plays a critical role in the transition between postsecondary. and future job environments. The age of an individual and how open they are to future change can influence their career adaptability.	 Self-identity Core values 	Ibarra, 2013



APPENDIX 7: AN EVIDENCE-BASED LEARNINGCITY

This study is the first contribution to a larger debate. Much discussion and exploration are required to embark on this path to learning innovation. Below, we consider potential areas of future research that will support transitioning Calgary into the re-envisioned LearningCITY. The four benchmarking initiatives below are currently in progress.

Learning System Benchmarking

- What are best practices of other cities that have gone through similar transformation? For instance, what can we learn from the UNESCO's Learning City Award recipients? ¹⁴
- 2. What other cities or learning systems have adopted adaptive capacity as a core learning outcome?
- 3. What other cities or learning systems

have deployed a community competency model?

- 4. What jurisdictions, sectors, disciplines, or professional fields have successfully adopted a 'climbing wall' model for the development of talent?
- 5. What other cities have successfully developed an open learning system to accelerate talent development?
- 6. What other cities have scaled meaningful EL opportunities to all postsecondary learners?

Unified Community Competency Model

- 1. How do we develop the competency model as a shared vision?
- 2. What are the core ECs that should be incorporated in a competency model?
- 3. How can ECs and DSCs be balanced in a learning environment with clear accountability in a learning system?
- 4. What are the short-term and long-term practical implications of deploying a competency model as the anchor for an

¹⁴ A UNESCO Learning City abides by six principles: "promote inclusive learning from basic to higher education; revitalize learning in families and communities; facilitate learning for and in the workplace; extend the use of modern learning technologies; enhance quality and excellence in

learning; and foster a culture of learning throughout life (UNESCO, 2015, p. 9). See 2019 city recipients at https://uil.unesco.org/lifelong-learning/learningcities/cities-inclusion-winners-unesco-learning-cityaward-2019

integrated learning system?

- 5. What are the implications of adopting a competency model on broader provincial learning policies?
- 6. How will increasing the adaptive cognitive abilities of individuals enhance institutional and city level adaptive capacity?
- 7. What are the implications of a competency model on employee professional development?

Learning Measurement

- 1. How do we effectively assess and measure the learning outcomes associated with adaptive capacity?
- 2. What are progressive measurement models that could be adopted to evaluate the impact of an open learning system?

Institutional Implications

- 1. What mechanisms facilitate the aggregation of at the organization and ecosystem level?
- 2. What is the relationship between adaptive individuals and adaptive organizations and ecosystems?
- 3. How should institutions work with diverse stakeholders and what role should they play in developing entrepreneurial competencies that enable adaptive individuals?

Implementation Implications

- 1. How do we implement and measure the effectiveness of the aggregation mechanisms at the city, ecosystem and city levels?
- 2. What governance mechanisms should be implemented to monitor the city's adaptive capacity?